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--- On commencing at  SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 19:29 a.m.

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay, good morning.  I think we will get started.

Welcome to the EB-2008-0381 account 1562 PILs combined proceeding.  Officially, on the notice -- maybe I should read out the official title on the notice -- is:
"This proceeding is to examine the outstanding issues with respect to the historical variances arising from the recording of payments in lieu of taxes, or PILs, by electricity distributors subject to section 93 of the Electricity Act, 1998."

This technical conference has been established to discuss the various issues surrounding this account, principally to discuss the issues that are in the Board's discussion paper -- or Board Staff's discussion paper released on August 20th, 2008, and any other issues that come up by the various parties.

My name is Harold Thiessen.  I am the case manager of this case on behalf of Board Staff.  With me is Duncan Skinner of our audit department and Ljuba Cochrane from our legal department.

As I said, the goal of this day is discuss the various aspects of the PILs issue.  It is designed for discussion purposes and for information gathering and perhaps talking about the various issues to achieve some sort of consensus on some of the issues.  It is not a time for arguments or submissions, or anything like that.

The Board hasn't decided the next steps in this case, but they will consider the transcript from today, and then decide what steps may be necessary to complete this proceeding.

The building blocks of this process or this proceeding are really the -- started with the applications in 2008 and 2009 of certain distributors who wanted to dispose of the 1562 account.  At that time, it was decided that we needed a combined proceeding to address the issues, because the issues of that account really had not been addressed formally by the Board.

What we have before us is the applications of the eight utilities, the Board Staff discussion paper of August 20th, the detailed evidence filed by three specific distributors as a result of Procedural Order No. 1, and we also have five submissions received on the various issues on January 12th, 2009, a week ago.

Now, I am going to suggest that after we have appearances, so everyone knows who everyone else is, for the benefit of -- and for the benefit of the court reporter, that we begin discussions by following the issues as listed in the Board Staff discussion paper, and after we make it through those issues, we can open it up to other issues that may have arisen.

I think I would also have an expectation that the three utilities that filed evidence would be able to talk about the issues in the context of their own filings and to say that, you know, In our particular case, we took this way of dealing with the issues and that's reflected in our filings.  I think that would be helpful.

I also have this hearing room booked for four days.  I don't think this technical conference is going to take four days, but just in case we need it, it is booked for that period of time.  We may only take one or two days to get through the various issues.

I think we are going to break shortly before noon.  The Board has set up TV monitors in the north hearing room and they're going to be broadcasting the inauguration of Barack Obama.  So if you want to join Board Staff and Board Members over in the other room at that time, you can do so, and then we will decide to get probably back together again at about 1 o'clock or so.

So why don't we go through the room and have appearances, and then we will get started?  So why don't we start here with Andrew.
Appearances:

MR. TAYLOR:  Hi, there.  I am Andrew Taylor and I'm counsel for Halton Hills Hydro.

MR. DAVIDSON:  I'm Stewart Davidson.  I'm the CFO for Halton Hills Hydro.

MR. SKIDMORE:  Art Skidmore, chief operating officer, Halton Hills Hydro.

MS. WELLINGTON:  Tracy Rawlingson, regulatory affairs, Halton Hills Hydro.

MR. PARKER:  Barry Parker, corporate tax manager, Toronto Hydro.

MR. McLORG:  Colin McLorg, manager of regulatory affairs, Toronto Hydro.

MS. KEYS:  Allison Keys, director of finance for EnWin Utilities.

MR. SASSO:  Andrew Sasso, director of regulatory affairs, EnWin.

MS. ZUBER:  Victoria Zuber, CFO, EnWin Utilities.

MS. ANDERSON:  Lynne Anderson, regulatory affairs, Hydro Ottawa.

MR. GRUE:  Mike Grue, treasurer, Hydro Ottawa.

MR. GRIBBON:  Jamie Gribbon, VP of finance and administration, Hydro One Brampton.

MR. ZOBROWSKI:  Steven Zebrowski, Veridian Hydro.

MR. D'AMBOISE:  Brian D'Amboise, CFO, Brantford Power.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Fiona O'Connell, Board Staff.

MR. SKALSKI:  Andrew Skalski, regulatory affairs, Hydro One Networks.

MS. AMOS:  Chris Amos, representing Waterloo North Hydro.

MS. McCLORG:  Lori McClorg, Veridian Connections.

MR. THIESSEN:  Excuse me just a moment.  Something has just gone wrong with the transcription system.  Just a moment.
--- Technical difficulties

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay, we can continue.

MS. McCLORG:  Laurie McClorg, Veridian Connections.

MR. BONADIE:  John Bonadie, Enersource Hydro Mississauga.

MS. McGRATH:  Anne McGrath, Merritt & Associates.

MS. DUFF:  Allison Duff, Consumers Council of Canada.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, School Energy Coalition.  Sorry I'm late.

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay, if we have everyone registered, I was going to suggest that we start -- unless there is anybody wants to raise any other procedural issues before we get started with the Board Staff discussion paper.  Does anyone have any other concerns with the agenda or whoever is going to proceed here, if that is all right?

If we start with the Board Staff discussion paper, the first part of that paper leading up to appendix A is basically a historical record of the 1562 account and the various events that have affected that account and how that account is constituted.

So if there are any questions or concerns with that part of the paper, you could perhaps raise them now before we get into appendix A, where some of the issues are raised by Board Staff.

If there are no concerns with the first part of the paper, we will just move right to appendix A.

If there are no concerns, then we can go to Roman numeral II in appendix A, bottom half of that page, entitled "The Mechanics of SIMPIL".  It bears the first principle, which is entitled "True-Ups", and the principle is:
"There should be a 100 percent true-up between the PILs expense in rates and that collected from customers.  There should be partial true-up between the amount collected from customers and that paid to the government."

Does anyone like to raise any concerns with that statement?

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.  Lynne Anderson, Hydro Ottawa.  It is not a concern with the intent of it.  It is just a question perhaps of language and wording and the use of the term "true-up", and just to make sure that we don't, I guess, have confusion on what is a true-up or not.

And I guess the way I had thought of the first part is more of a variance as opposed to a true-up, and the second part was more of a true-up, so that the difference between the PILs expense in rates, or the, I guess we called it the PILs proxy and the amount -- and the question is whether it is collected or billed to customers -- was more of a variance, as opposed to a true-up.

Maybe that is a distinction that is not necessary, but just for our language, just so we don't kind of misinterpret, I guess, the true-up part, which then gets into a few items that were part of the actual tax filings.

MR. THIESSEN:  Any comment or discussion on Lynne's point?

Now, in terms of the utilities that actually filed their information, the three utilities, any comments there about how that issue was treated in those filings?

MR. SASSO:  Just to say that is how we treated them.

MR. THIESSEN:  Fair enough.

MR. SKIDMORE:  We would concur with that.

MR. THIESSEN:  All right.  I notice the Barrie Hydro representatives are here.  Perhaps if those people that just came in could just introduce themselves for the court reporter.

MR. PERRY:  Hi, I am Stephen Perry, with Barrie Hydro...

MR. PROCTOR:  Dave Proctor, Cornerstone Hydro.

MS. MERNER:  Lee Merner, Wellington North Power.

MR. THIESSEN:  If there is no further discussion of that point, Board Staff doesn't have a comment either.  We can move up to page IV of the appendix A.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Harold, you are going awful fast for me.

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't know about anybody else, but I am, like, catching up.  And I take it that if we don't raise a comment, that is not because we agree with everything.  If we had made comment in our submissions, that is still relevant?

MR. THIESSEN:  Exactly.  I can't precisely speak for what's going to happen after this technical conference, but I would be quite surprised if there wasn't an opportunity for final submissions, so that even if you don't make a comment here today, that you have an opportunity to have your final say.  I would imagine that would be the case.

So even though you don't say anything at this very point, I think you can still -- but it would be very -- it probably would be helpful that, if you do have an issue with one of these things, and that it's going to be controversial for other parties, that we can discuss it here so people are aware of the different issues and the different concerns various parties have.  Fair enough?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then I wonder if -- and maybe I am just slow this morning, but, you know, you went through true-up in about 60 seconds, and we have a number of issues with true-up that we've raised in our preliminary comments, and I am sure there are things that need to be discussed there.

And the one comment from Lynne, I don't think is the whole discussion of it.  So I wonder if maybe it would be useful if Staff gave us a little summary of the issue, and then we could have a discussion about the issue, rather than just, you know, Do you object?  No?  Okay.  Let's go.

MR. THIESSEN:  Fair enough.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Am I overreacting, or is that useful?

MR. THIESSEN:  I mean -- Colin?

MR. McLORG:  I'm Colin.

MR. THIESSEN:  Right.

MR. McLORG:  Well, I would like to just respond to --

THE REPORTER:  Microphone, please.

MR. McLORG:  There.  It is on now, sorry -- to what Jay said, and that is, first of all, to agree that, certainly speaking for Toronto Hydro, and I believe it is the general understanding of CLD, that we can rely on the submissions that have already been made, and so we won't take time in this proceeding to simply rehash those.  But I think that that was one point that Jay was making.

And then, if I may, Jay, I think that you actually missed some of Harold's introductory comments, in which I think, if I can restate for you, Harold, he expressed Board Staff's view that the purpose of this technical conference was really to find facts and that kind of thing, and that there would be a separate opportunity to make submissions on the issues, the policies, et cetera, at a later stage.

Again, speaking for Toronto Hydro, if there is any doubt about where we stand on policy issues, I am happy to clarify that, but I did not understand this to be a proceeding in which there would be actually argument or discussion on the policies, as opposed to the facts.

So I don't know if that is at all helpful, but certainly I share your concern that we do want an opportunity to make further submissions, in the nature of argument, essentially, as a follow-on to this proceeding, and in the light of this -- I say "proceeding", but what I really mean is in the light of this technical conference.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  I guess -- I will give you an example.  We have raised the question in our comments about whether the Staff paper assumption that volume risk is shifted to the ratepayers with respect to PILs is a done deal.

Now, that may be a policy issue that needs to be discussed as a policy matter, but I think Staff has written the paper as if that is already decided, the stakeholders reached a consensus on that.  Well, I don't think they did.  I think that was a process that didn't have any stakeholders in it except utilities, and there was no consensus.

And therefore, I think that we may have some value in discussing whether the utilities want to shift the volume risk on this, and, if so -- or whether -- maybe we're wrong.  Maybe the effect isn't to shift the volume risk in truing up the way it is proposed.

So I am just suggesting that maybe it is worth talking about, but, you know, I am in your hands, of course.

MR. THIESSEN:  Well, I am happy to move along in that direction.  I mean, if there is any other comments in relation to what Jay has said from the utilities...

MR. McLORG:  Well, Harold, if I may -- and just by way of, I think, clarification more than anything else, I think that, you know, I would support Jay's view that there is perhaps something to talk about there, in terms of the policy determination.

From our perspective, it is the case that the 1562 PILs regime did treat tax -- income tax, specifically, which is a consequence of earnings -- differently than the earnings themselves.

And if you want to characterize that as shifting volume risk, I think that that covers some part of the truth, but I think that earnings are, of course, determined by more than simply volumes -- or revenues on that side of the game.

So if there is something helpful that we can clarify right now, in terms of what the actual effects of the 1562 regime were factually, I think that, again speaking for Toronto Hydro, we would be happy to do that, although I don't certainly want to usurp the floor, so to speak, from the named utilities here, who perhaps would more appropriately respond to that directly.

As to the, you know, the policy appropriateness of that, again I would suggest that that is probably better dealt with outside of a technical conference framework.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why don't I ask the question directly.  It is in two parts.  Is the effect of the true-up between the amount collected and the amount included in revenue requirement -- has that the effect of shifting the volume risk?  I mean, either it does or it doesn't.  It is a technical question.

MR. SKINNER:  I am not sure if it's -- look, I suppose it could be characterized as volume.  The difference between the amount put in the proxy, whenever the rates were effective, and the amount recovered from customers, was meant to be either a positive or negative variance.  Part of that would be volumetric risk, caused by weather or customer connections that didn't happen.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what would the other part of it be?

MR. SKINNER:  From that perspective, it would only be, I think, what you have identified.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just the volume risk?

MR. SKINNER:  Yes, I'm pretty sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then the second part of the question is:  Is it Staff's understanding that that decision has already opinion made and it is not open in this proceeding, or not?

MR. SKINNER:  It was part of the methodology developed in the fourth quarter of 2001 by Board Staff, the EDA representatives and utility representatives, and it was included in the instructions in the 2002 application in order to develop a proxy for inclusion in rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But that doesn't answer the question directly, Duncan, sorry.

The question is:  Is it an open issue, or not?

MR. SKINNER:  That I can't answer, Jay.  I think in the paper you will see words to the effect the Board has never issued a decision on this.  The Board has issued instructions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think that is right.

MR. SKINNER:  Those instructions I believe are considered to be guidelines, like 2006 EDR Handbook is a guideline.  Many things are only guidelines.  Until you get a Board decision and order, you don't have a decision and order.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. SKINNER:  That's the purpose of this tech conference is to investigate what are policy, what are serious issues that need to be put before the Board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  So I guess we are going on record as saying that is an issue we think the Board should decide, because if the Board is going to make an exception to the general rule that the policy -- that the volume risk is borne by the LDCs, then that should be done consciously and directly, not through guidelines and not in a one-sided process, as it was.

MR. THIESSEN:  Any other comments on that issue?  Andrew.

MR. SASSO:  If I can just briefly note, Harold, to raise a little bit of a concern, I want to do so earlier rather than later in the process.

I think there is a bit of an issue about the case to be met, and I have some concern around that.

Three utilities have been named and we have provided the information that we have provided, having followed guidelines, models, processes, for a string of five or six years, which occurred as recently as three years ago.

I guess I just want to put out there at this stage in this proceeding, whether it is this technical conference and more broadly this proceeding, is going to delve a great deal into other options for the model or recomposing the SIMPIL, other alternatives to the guidelines, perhaps, then I just want to make a note of concern about there being too much experimentation on the three named utilities, from the standpoint of running a whole bunch of different scenarios or lines of questioning or investigation or exploration into, Okay, well, what if we did this, what if we did that?

I guess my sense of our case to meet is that there were guidelines and we provided information.  To the extent we followed those guidelines or didn't follow those guidelines, assessing the results, those are all important considerations, and certainly if there are broader policy issues, those need to be dealt with.

But I just want to raise that concern, earlier rather than later, about if we have yet to settle on or if the Board has yet to settle on our case to meet, then I think we just need to bear that in mind and proceed carefully, in terms of what the three named utilities -- what is expected from the three named utilities in this proceeding and what the outcome is both for the three named utilities and for other utilities and other parties.

MR. THIESSEN:  I think that the three named utilities can let us know in this -- on this day when things are getting a bit too specific for your own applications.

I think the whole idea of having three named utilities and actual numbers filed was to actually have some real-life examples of the issues we're discussing and to have sort of a concrete example of some of these things.  That was the intent to start with.

So you will have to let us know, on this day, once we start getting into territory you think is uncomfortable.  I think that is all I can say, really.

MR. SASSO:  Just to briefly follow up -- and it is not that we have any concern about dealing with utility-specific information.  I just want to be very clear on the record about that.  We are not concerned about utility-specific.  It is more about hypotheticals or other alternatives based on a different set of guidelines or rules or models than we used in the past, and we are just not prepared to go down the hypothetical lane, but we are certainly prepared to, you know, deal with whatever information we filed, which is how we dealt with the guidelines that were in place at the time.

MR. THIESSEN:  Fair enough.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do I understand the problem is the workload that might be imposed on the guinea pigs, as it were?

MR. SASSO:  It is not so much a matter of workload.  It is a matter of process, that if there is going to be a change in the rules of the game, we followed the rules or we thought we followed the rules of the game as they were at the time.

If there are now a bunch of alternatives, then it is a different case that we had to meet.  I am just concerned about -- just taking the example of the PILs true-up or the collection true-up, we looked at the Staff paper.  This is the policy that Board Staff understood to be in place at the time.

The question was:  Is that how the utilities interpreted it?  Our answer was "yes".  If Schools has some broader policy concerns, we may not be in a position to deal with those, because what we know is how we did what we did, and we did it in good faith.

So it is not a question of the work.  It is just:  What are the expectations for today and what are the expectations for the process?  What is the outcome?

If we are changing the framework, if we are changing the guidelines to something that was not in place when we did this, likely we will have departed, and I just have some concern about it looking like we have departed or trolling through and looking at our information in light of guidelines that weren't in place.

So it is just a process question, and I am not concerned about -- I am concerned about outcomes more than -- and how we have -- I think we have done what we have done in good faith, and that is the concern.  If we need to change policy, let's change policy, but let's change it in a much broader context than just the three named utilities.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Clearly, I guess that we should probably make very clear what our position is.

In our view, the process that took place to develop these, the model and the policies, didn't follow the rules, because the people who were paying for it, the ratepayers, weren't involved.

It is quite clear that legally that means that it is not binding on the Board.  So the Board has to get the right answer, in our view, and that may -- I take your point.  It is sort of unfair to you, that you followed what you thought were the rules, but the Board didn't do it right, and so maybe they aren't the rules anymore.  They may still be, but they might be changed.

But the Board still has to ultimately get the right answer, and it shouldn't just affect you.  It should affect everybody, but -- you know, I accept there is a certain unfairness about it, but the other alternative is the ratepayers have to pay the wrong amount because they weren't involved in the first place.

So it is a tough balance.  I take your point.

MR. THIESSEN:  Any more discussion of that?  Any other points?

We want to move further through the paper to page IV, where the next topic is tax rate for true-up calculations.

Duncan, can you provide a little bit of a background on that?

MR. SKINNER:  The original understanding, as I recall, was that the tax rate for the tax year would be used to calculate the true-up.  So when the SIMPIL was filed in the summer of 2003 for the 2002 tax year, you would use the 2002 tax rate applicable to the corporation.

Now, that sounds fairly straightforward.  But there were many corporations that didn't have any taxable income, that had loss carry-forwards, and so what is the appropriate tax rate for that corporation, and what is the appropriate tax rate to be used when calculating the true-ups?

And I will give you an example.  If you had a corporation that would be subject to the maximum tax rate, had a loss carry-forward, had no taxable income, and had $300,000 of true-up items, the model would default to the lowest tax rate because the income was below $400,000, or below $300,000 earlier in this whole process.

So it may only be an error in the way the model defaulted.  The models were left open for the utilities to correct their own evidence.  And I would think, for instance, a company like EnWin, that would be subject to the maximum tax rate, that it wouldn't be correct to use the lowest tax rate to compute the true-up item.

And I think that is the issue:  What is the appropriate tax rate in that situation?  And there are probably many other variations of that theme.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You used the term in the Staff paper "effective tax rate", which in tax jargon is your -- the actual percentage that your tax is of your income, which, if you are using loss carry-forwards, is zero.

Is that how it was intended to be -- how the term was intended to be used, or is it actually the published tax rate that you are referring to?

MR. SKINNER:  It is actually the tax rate applicable to the corporation.  What we're trying to get to is, what tax rate should be used for the true-up?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, why wouldn't you just rerun the tax return with the adjustment and see what happens?

MR. SKINNER:  Sorry, with which adjustment?

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you have an adjustment -- let's say you have a $300,000 income adjustment for 2002, which you find out about in '03 or '04.  Why wouldn't you just rerun the tax return with that adjustment?

MR. SKINNER:  I don't think that has ever been done, Jay.  In terms of the way this methodology has worked, that hasn't been done.  The Excel worksheet is populated, and the true-up items attract a tax rate, and you would think it would be the tax rate normally applicable to the corporation, so a large corporation would have the maximum tax rate that should be used in that true-up process.  And I think over the years the model has defaulted in certain situations to the minimum tax rate.

So the use of the term "effective" is probably incorrect as you described it.  That is not what it was meant to be.  It is what should be used in the true-up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So --

MR. SKINNER:  The instructions say, take it from your tax return.  So if you made more than half-a million dollars or whatever the numbers are at the time and you were subject to the maximum tax rate, that is the tax rate that would flow through the true-up calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the true-up was done as a separate calculation, divorced from the actual return that it was attempting to true-up?

MR. SKINNER:  There was meant to be a link, in that the Excel worksheet has a proxy column, it has an income-tax-return column, and it has the difference between the two.

The established true-up items were then subject to the calculation.  Take the total of the true-up, multiply it by the appropriate tax rate, and that became the true-up item for that year's SIMPIL process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we have an example in one of the utilities?  I mean, I looked at their tax returns.  I didn't see an example.

MR. SKINNER:  No.  You would find it in the SIMPIL, not in the tax return.  It would be in the SIMPIL model.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I looked at their SIMPIL filings, and I didn't see one that had this effect.  Was there one that had this --

MR. SKINNER:  I think EnWin should, in one of the years, because EnWin has had a loss carry-forward, but I don't know if the model defaulted to the incorrect tax rate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can EnWin help us with that?  What year was it, and what were the details?

MR. SASSO:  We are just pulling it up here to try to find -- to try to find one.

What I would say first is that the model asked for -- this can probably be just a general statement as we find the detail.  Where the model asked for information, we put in the information.  And for better or for worse -- and we will probably find a few examples of this as we proceed through.  But where it asks us to put in "X", we put in "X", and in many cases don't know how that carries through the model and how the model treats some of those things.  I guess we put some faith in the Board Staff model.  So...

MS. KEYS:  As an example, in the 2005 year, we had a loss carry-forward --

MS. ABI-RASHED:  Excuse me, can we just -- we can't hear back here.  It is hard to hear.  Thank you.

MR. THIESSEN:  Can you speak a bit louder?

MS. KEYS:  For the 2005 year, our tax year, we had a loss carry-forward, but then for the SIMPIL's model for the true-up variances -- that's what you're asking about -- our tax rate for the true-up variance was actually the higher tax rate, so the 35 percent or whatever the effective rate was at that time.  It didn't take it based on sort of our actual tax rate of zero, say, or something, because we had a loss carry-forward.

MR. SKINNER:  Did you override it, or did it automatically do that?

MS. KEYS:  No, it -- we did not override that.

MR. SKINNER:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then the effect of this is, there was an adjustment.  Is the adjustment in favour the utility or in favour of the ratepayers?  Did it increase your tax recoverable or decrease?

MS. KEYS:  It increased our tax...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Increase.  So that then allowed you in 15 -- to put in 1562 an amount to recover from the ratepayers, right, that you didn't actually pay?

MR. SASSO:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it would use up loss carry-forwards, so eventually, in a later year, you would have to pay it.  But by then you are on cost of service, and so you are recovering it from the ratepayers anyway.

So aren't you recovering it twice if you do that?  Am I making a mistake here in my analysis, or is that correct?

MR. SASSO:  I don't know.  I don't know what the -- I don't know how that would play out.  I don't know if Duncan has a better read on that than we would, in terms of -- I don't know if he heard your question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  See, this, I think, is -- if I understand it, this is the purpose of this technical conference, is to nail down things just like this.

So if you had, what was it, $200,000 or something, adjustment, or 10,000 -- it doesn't matter -- an amount, and you then were able to put $50,000 into your 1562 to recover from ratepayers, that amount isn't actually a cost to the utility.

And because of the -- depending on whether your loss carry-forwards ran out before 2006 or after 2005, it may be double-counting, right, because if your loss carry-forwards ran out before 2005, then it would self-adjust in the PILs model, right, what you -- the adjustment in the previous year would make your loss carry-forwards run out sooner during the 1562 period.  So it would be captured.  Am I right?

MR. SKINNER:  I'm not sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So here is one of the things -- this is precisely the example that Andrew was talking about.  In order to understand the impact of this issue, the effective tax rates issue, somebody - EnWin seems to have volunteered accidentally - has to run the impact to see whether how it worked will produce too much money or too little money or the right amount, by going through each year and seeing what the effect of that adjustment is over time.

I don't see how else you can calculate that or how else you can determine the right answer.  Is that fair?

MR. SKINNER:  I think it could be.

MR. SASSO:  If I can just say, you know, it really goes to -- and I think Jay's point is it really goes to the operation of the model, the operation of several models in sequence --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.

MR. SASSO:  -- and their time period.

Whether these three utilities present all of the scenarios that will enable that to happen or not, you know, I don't know, but I guess there is also just -- the issue that it raises is if we're going back to change the model, and that may be something that is open to -- certainly open to the Board -- whether it is being contemplated, I don't know, but we do get into -- whether we want to call it cherry-picking or not, but it would need to -- if we are going to reopen the whole model, it is certainly a retroactive consideration.

Now, nothing has been disposed of.  It is a variance account and so it may be a horse of a different stripe.  But that's perhaps fundamentally different than just whether or not EnWin or Halton Hills or Barrie/PowerStream were in compliance.

So this goes back to this policy point.  I want to be clear about what we are here to do.  We are not tax experts.  We use very smart people from public accounting firms to advise us on tax.  We really can't -- just as this example illustrates, we really can't get into a dialogue at this session on what are the different tax implications and how that flows through.

We act on advice from our tax experts, the direction of our auditors and Board guidelines.  So, you know, if we are here to say have we complied, you know, we are happy to get into that.  We won't be able to get into a dialogue on what are different scenarios related to tax implications of choices that were not in play when we did this.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is good this comes up now, because I think this raises an issue about this proceeding, generally.

As I understand the Board's procedural order, this is a combined proceeding and a generic proceeding all at once.  The combined proceeding is this is actually EnWin's request to clear this account; right?

MR. SASSO:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And, therefore, during the course of this process, one way or another, we have to find out whether the amount that they want to clear is the right amount.

If the getting to that answer -- and it is not about whether you followed the Board guidelines.  It is about whether it is the right amount to clear, because the test is not did you follow the rules.  It is it is just and reasonable rates.

Given that, it seems to me that if you had an adjustment, for example, in 2005, it is legitimate for ratepayers to ask:  Was the result of that double-counting?

If you recovered an amount twice because of that, or you over-recover because of that, then the 1562 has to be adjusted to compensate for that.  Otherwise, the rates wouldn't be just and reasonable.

And because this is your clearance proceeding, you have to find that information.  So I assume that I can ask for an undertaking in this technical conference to go do the calculation.  Can I?

MR. SASSO:  Maybe if I can just offer what our concern would be about giving such an undertaking is that we don't -- that's why I wanted to raise it earlier on.  We don't know what the outcome -- we know one of the possible outcomes of this proceeding is that EnWin, Halton Hills and Barrie will get disposition of 1562.  I don't know that that is a guaranteed outcome, and not because of there not being merit to any of those requests for disposition, but because there may be a broader generic issue or broader generic issues that need to be resolved before any utility can do that.

So, for example, it may be that the PILs -- the SIMPIL models require adjustment.  Maybe they don't require adjustment, but perhaps there needs to be some determination around that.  If the SIMPIL models or other processes, guidelines, were adjusted and we knew this was set and this is what was the Board-approved mechanism for recovery, we could certainly go back, and I think it would be fair for us to go back, and reprocess the information in light of that.

There are, of course, other concerns that have been raised by utilities about rate freezes, and so on, and going back, and so I think we have to be very careful, if we are going to reopen anything in the past, about what things are reopened in the past and whether, as a matter of fairness to customers and to utilities, that makes sense.

But I would be concerned about giving an undertaking to go down a path that doesn't necessarily lead to what we have originally sought.

So I would be much more comfortable with getting the model correct.  Then, once we have repopulated the data and if any intervening party has questions about that -- but right now we are jumping through a line here, a line there, without a sense of whether the big picture at the end of the day is going to lead to fair -- just and reasonable rates.

So that would be my concern about giving an undertaking in this context.

MR. COCHRANE:  I think if I can assist as counsel, the concern from Board Staff and counsel would be that we are not authorized to order any party to give undertakings.

So unless -- and we are not a panel of this Board.  So unless a party is willing to voluntarily undertake to do something, we don't have the authority to compel them to do that.

If any party -- Mr. Shepherd, if you feel strongly that these undertakings should be given, I think it would have to proceed by way of a motion before a properly-constituted panel of the Board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  With respect, Ms. Cochrane, I disagree with you.  You are right that Board Staff can't order an undertaking.

However, the rules of a technical conference are that if there is an applicant, I get to ask questions.  If they don't have the information here, they must undertake -- if it is relevant, they must undertake to provide the information.

So the onus is not on us.  The onus is on the applicant to present their evidence, and if the applicant chooses not to present their evidence, then they bear the consequences.  They don't get to recover their account.

MR. COCHRANE:  I would agree with you, Mr. Shepherd, in your typical technical conference in a rate application, where it is clear what is relevant and what isn't.

In this case, part of the proceeding at this stage is to flesh out the generic issues and to, if I can put it this way, if need be, adjust the model, if it needs to be revised, and then if the three named utilities need to revise their submissions and their evidence on -- based on a revised model, then they will have an opportunity to do that.

But I think everybody has a concern about, you know, the fact these three named utilities are -- I don't mean any disrespect, but sort of the guinea pigs in this case, and if we are to look at every possible option and variation on the model and ask that they undertake to perform calculations, it may be unduly onerous on them.

I think at this stage, it would be more appropriate to work on the generic issues, look at the example of the three named utilities, highlight concerns, as you pointed out, with the way this particular tax rate is being applied, and then, if need be, the panel that is hearing this proceeding can order further conferences or can order undertakings, or we can have further discovery or interrogatories.  So I think at this point...

MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to make clear that the undertaking I requested has nothing to do with generic issues.  The undertaking I requested is for EnWin, which has asked for clearance, to do a calculation about whether the amount they have asked to clear would be over-collection.

It is very specific to them, to their situation.  It is not a bunch of hypothetical scenarios.  It is, are you asking to collect too much?

So I think the rules are, I've asked for an undertaking.  They either give it or refuse it.  If they refuse it, it goes in the transcript.

MR. COCHRANE:  I think that is...

MR. THIESSEN:  Colin?

MR. McLORG:  Harold, from Toronto's point of view, it seems to me that the undertaking requested is really going to a matter of principle, and that matter of principle can be argued as a matter of principle without any facts underpinning it.

I think the question, as I understand it, is, who has ownership of the tax benefit of a loss carry-forward.  And if a loss carry-forward existed as a matter of fact, is that as a matter of principle really to the account of the shareholder or to the ratepayer?

So that as a matter of principle can be argued without appeal to, or even reference to, the particular facts of EnWin or anyone else's case.

And to me it is -- it is improper to request as an undertaking some commitment on the part of a utility to provide evidence that really is not a matter of fact, as was agreed was going to be discussed at this technical conference, but rather goes to buttressing the argument of one intervenor.

So, you know, from our perspective, that is a matter of policy, and Schools is, of course, quite welcome to raise that as a policy, and it can make its submissions, and utilities and other intervenors can make their submissions.

But to parade it as an undertaking and, you know, put forward as a matter of fact things that are clearly normative, rather than descriptive -- you know, "over-collecting" and "too much" are some of the terms that I heard -- well, that is not fact.  That is judgment and policy.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have asked for an undertaking.  I would like it either to be given or refused.

MR. SASSO:  Well, we have given our rationale for refusing it.  So I will refuse it on the basis of the points raised.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. COCHRANE:  At this point, just, I don't know if anybody would like to take a break at this point, and maybe we can have some discussion about how we are going to deal with requests for undertakings in this proceeding.  So we would like to break for, what, ten minutes, or...?

MR. THIESSEN:  Well, why don't we come back at 20 to 11:00.  Take a 15-minute break, and we will try and discuss this issue and see what we can come up with.

--- Recess taken at 10:25 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 10:41 a.m.

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay, if we can get started again.

MS. COCHRANE:  The issue we were dealing with before the break was how to deal with the undertakings that some parties may have -- may wish to put to the three named utilities in this proceeding.

As we have indicated, there is no provision in the Board procedural order for interrogatories, and Staff recognize the concern of all parties as to, you know, what the discovery process will be and if this is the only opportunity to ask questions and request undertakings.

I have attempted to, very quickly, meet with the Panel.  One of the Panel members isn't available until after lunch, but we will be meeting over the lunch break with the Panel to obtain some direction as to whether there will be an opportunity subsequent to this conference for interrogatories, and then hopefully that will give some direction as to how to deal with undertakings in the technical conference.

So for the time being, we would ask, if possible, to forge ahead as best we can with -- you know, if Mr. Shepherd or anybody else has undertakings they really want to put on the record, I would invite them to do that, and hopefully after the lunch break we will have some better direction and guidance as to how to deal with the questions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  As I indicated to you during the break, I do have a couple of pieces of information I would like the applicants to provide and perhaps I can put that on the record now.

They may in fact be happy to provide some of this stuff, because some of it is pretty basic.  The first is we do not have filed on the public record the live versions of the SIMPIL models for each year for each of these three utilities, and, as you saw when we talked about that last issue, you were able to go to the live model and take a look at what it said, and we of course can't.  So we can't see what you overrode and stuff like that.

So I wonder if the three utilities could file their live versions of the SIMPIL model for each of the years in question.  That would certainly assist enormously.

Maybe I could just ask the utilities:  Do they have any problem with doing that?

MR. TAYLOR:  Just help me understand, Jay.  The models available, and then the data that was inputted into each individual LDC's model, that is available, as well.

So if one wanted to, one could re-input that data into the open model that is available.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Absolutely.

MR. TAYLOR:  This is something that can be done, but it is just a matter of saving a lot of time having to re-input all of that data.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would you want us to do that at $390 an hour?

MR. TAYLOR:  I am just trying to understand that.  I would like to consult with my client before we give you a definitive answer on that, but I understand what you are asking for.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Does EnWin have any problems with filing those?

MR. SASSO:  EnWin talked over the break and we have some -- leaving this issue aside for a second, we just have some higher-level concerns about the direction that the proceeding seems to be headed.

Our request for disposition of 1562 was made as one small component of a much larger application.  Our expectation or hope, I guess, at the time of seeking disposition would be that by the time we got around to disposing of the account, that there would be some certainty and the Board would have resolved, by that stage, the mechanism or processes for disposition, as had been announced earlier in 2008.

However, in that it hasn't been disposed of, in that there is a great deal of uncertainty over what the case to be met is, and in light of the fact that we simply are biting off something that we had no intention of biting off, our stated intention, I guess, here is that we will be withdrawing our request for disposition of 1562 and we will come back at a later stage to the Board in accordance with the Board's directions at that time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It gets more interesting as the morning goes on.  Can I ask Barrie whether they will file their live SIMPIL models?

MR. PERRY:  At this time, because of our unique situation with the merger, that we would like to consult with further staff at PowerStream Barrie Hydro before we would make that commitment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That being the case, I am not going to ask people to answer the other things that we would like to see, but let me just give you a list so you can respond later, and maybe that is more useful:  What changes each year each utility made to the model either by way of overrides or by way of adjustments that were allowed, but were not the standard, and a list would be useful for each year; a list of the true-ups that you have taken for each year.  Now this is not the volume true-up, the collection true-up; the other true-ups, and the amounts and the years.

And Board Staff has provided a list of issues, and we would request that each of the utilities identify which of those issues apply to them and for which years.

We may have some others as time goes on, but those are the ones that come to mind immediately as being of most assistance.  Thank you.

MR. PERRY:  Could I ask, Jay, if you could provide a list to us so there is no confusion in interpretation of what the questions -- we tried to copy those down.  Is it possible to get a list or something?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think they will be in the transcript.  If you want, at the break, I can -- or I can send you an e-mail.

MR. PERRY:  Yes, okay.  If I could just ask, based on EnWin's comment about withdrawing from the disposal, or whatever, of the variance account, could Board Staff explain what ramifications -- if PowerStream Barrie Hydro chose to go down that same path, does that just withdraw us from disposal during this process?

My understanding of the original intent of this technical conference was more of a sharing of ideas and information to result in a generic disposal for all utilities down the road.

If we withdraw from asking for disposal as part of this process, would we still be -- if that is where this ends up, as a generic type of process for all utilities to dispose of, would we still be asked to dispose of our account through that generic process?

MR. THIESSEN:  Well, I don't think you can get away from disposing of the account one way or the other, and this was designed -- you are quite right, this technical conference was designed to get some information out, get some discussion of the issues that were still outstanding with this account and how this account is populated.

The three utilities were chosen to provide some sort of a hard record or an example of how these issues had evolved over the years.

I don't know exactly how to deal with the request to revoke the request for disposition of the account by EnWin.  I am not exactly sure how to deal with that.

MR. COCHRANE:  I think we will have to refer it to the Panel and take their direction.

MR. THIESSEN:  Probably, but that doesn't mean that -- I think we can go on and discuss the issues generically up until lunch and, after lunch, we have some sort of direction from the Panel; then we can move on from there.

So if EnWin, for instance, would still provide some input, and then we will hold off on those issues until after lunch and see where we go from there.

Then hopefully we can still get some concrete work done on the issues of 1562 until that time.  How does that sound?

MR. SASSO:  Absolutely.  EnWin is happy to participate in the dialogue.  We came up from Windsor for that purpose, and hope to continue to contribute to that, just as any other utility that is not a named utility would do.

MR. THIESSEN:  All right.  Any other comments on that suggested path that we are going to follow this morning?

Then if not, then why don't we move along.  We were on page 4 of Appendix A, and we were discussing tax rates for true-up calculations.

And I think, apart from this request for extra information as to whether this issue was a credit or a debit to customers, I think there was a consensus that the same tax rate be used.  Is that right, Duncan?

MR. SKINNER:  I believe there was consensus in the room, or there seemed to be, that the tax rate for the applicable year would be the tax rate that would be used in the true-up in the subsequent year's SIMPIL.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no --

MR. SKINNER:  Oh, I'm sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- we don't understand, and we have said in our comments, and we -- I think you as a tax person will understand my concern.  We don't understand why you just don't recalculate the year with the right numbers.  If you do that, you get the right answer and you know it for sure, as opposed to an adjustment that is basically a proxy.

MR. SKINNER:  Okay.

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay.  If there is no other comments on that, then we can move to the next section, which is the stand-alone principle.  And maybe Duncan would like to do a little introduction to that to get discussion going.

MR. SKINNER:  There were two components of the stand-alone principle.  One was for the income-tax calculation and one was for the capital and large-corporation tax calculations.

From an income-tax point of view, the utility was expected to remove water and sewer activity, fibre-optic activity, and anything that was considered to be non-distribution utility activity.  And I believe most of the utilities, if not all of them, have attempted to do that over the years.

The other portion of the stand-alone principle was that the capital exemptions or deductions, however you wish to characterize the 50 million large-corporation tax and the $10 million at the time for Ontario corporation tax -- so you take your total capital, you make a deduction, and you pay tax on the net amount.

Originally, when the instructions were issued, the full exemption or deduction had to be used in the calculation for the corporation in the PILs proxy, and that was modified with different instructions in Board documents for filing applications, so that the utilities were permitted to allocate those based on the same principles they followed in their tax return.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I didn't understand that, Duncan.

MR. SKINNER:  Okay.  Ontario capital tax, if you take $10 million, the original instruction was, use the $10 million.  Utilities applied and said, Well, that is not the way we filed our tax returns.  We have to allocate the 10 million based on the individual taxable capital, pro-rated over total taxable capital, for the corporate group.  And the Board said, Fine, you can do that.

And then, with large corporation tax, the 50 million was also allocated.  And based on the way that the corporation did it in its tax return, was permitted to be used in developing the proxy.  So it was a modification of a stand-alone principle.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Based on the fact that it was required for tax filing purposes anyway?

MR. SKINNER:  Yes, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But then the Board also allowed some utilities to allocate things like the small-business deduction over affiliates as well, right, as exceptions?

MR. SKINNER:  I don't recall one that did that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you have referred in the Staff paper to distributors applying to modify the treatment that is applied in the rules.  Was that just for capital tax?

MR. SKINNER:  The ones I remember were applicable to Ontario capital tax and to the large corporation tax.  I don't recall anyone pro-rating the small business credit.  I'm not saying it wasn't done.  I just don't recall one.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So was capital tax -- the exemption for capital tax and large-corporation tax, was that uniformly allocated by all utilities, or is it some did and some didn't?

MR. SKINNER:  Some did, some didn't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there a list?  Is there a list?

MR. SKINNER:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thanks.

MR. SKINNER:  Harold, do you want to be Chair?  Laurie has a question.  Laurie?

MS. McLORG:  Duncan, do you recall which year that was effective then?  Or was it effective right back from 2001, this change in treatment from the Board -- the decision?

MR. SKINNER:  I don't recall.  I remember Veridian made the issue first, I believe, because you had four rate areas, and each one took the maximum deduction in the calculation.  Then you re-filed in the same year, on the basis that you only file one corporate tax return and therefore the deductions should be allocated to the four service areas.  From every year specifically was, it was all in the same corporation.

MS. McLORG:  Yeah, we had multiple issues across rate schedules, but then also across the corporate group.  But I guess what I'm wondering about -- so we don't know whether the change in policy or the change in the allowance of those -- or the change in the treatment in the allowance was from -- originally right from the 2001?  I think that would be important to know when that change was.

MR. SKINNER:  Well, in 2002 the first application for the PILs proxy to be recovered in rates, if the utility made a specific request -- and I am thinking Veridian's request, I believe, was in 2002, and I believe it was approved in 2002.  But I don't think there was a policy statement from the Board.  It was approved in your application.

MR. THIESSEN:  Brian?

MR. D'AMBOISE:  That was my question.

MR. THIESSEN:  Oh.  Any other comments?  Discussion?

MR. SKINNER:  Number D on page V.

MS. ABI-RASHED:  Sorry, we have a question here.  Is that on a case-by-case basis, or can everyone file on that basis?

MR. SKINNER:  In 2002 I am pretty sure it was on a case-by-case basis.  Subsequent to that there were filing guidelines that were sent out that talked about the pro-ration.

D says rate base as the starting point for capital taxes and capital cost allowance.  Originally, the '99 rate base was the starting point for these calculations.  And the Board permitted the paid-up capital to also be calculated using the same methodology as in the tax returns.

In some cases, utilities got a higher taxable capital using rate base, and in some cases they got a higher taxable capital using the actual calculation based on the tax returns.

And that is on an individual case basis.  In the 2006 EDR handbook, the utility was given the option to do the actual calculation or use rate base as taxable capital.  Both were permissible.

MR. THIESSEN:  Any discussion of that?  Not?

MR. SKINNER:  E, on the same page.  Interest claw-back.  The principle written is, interest deductibility is determined based on a true-up between the Board deemed interest rate and the interest determined by the Ministry of Finance.

The SIMPIL model through 2005, to the extent that interest that appears on the tax return exceeds the maximum deemed, there was a negative entry in the SIMPIL true-up.  So it was a claw-back that would be paid to ratepayers eventually.  That is the way the model was constructed.

In 2006 EDR guidelines, that same calculation appeared.  So that there was going to be a claw-back if your deemed capital structure resulted in interest higher than the Board's deemed interest.

MR. GRIBBON:  Duncan, is that only a one-way adjustment?  In Hydro One Brampton's case, we have -- or we had debt levels in excess of the deemed debt levels.

We were subject to a true-up period through the SIMPIL spreadsheet.  So I guess are you saying there is a true-up the other way, as well?  I am just wondering.  And, really, in the SIMPIL spreadsheet, it was the first place that we were aware that there would be a true-up.

MR. SKINNER:  It is asymmetrical and it is excess only.

MR. GRIBBON:  Excess only.

MR. SKINNER:  Excess only.  There are very few utilities that have the issue to deal with.  Hydro One Brampton is one.

MR. GRIBBON:  We were one.  The reason -- just to give a little bit of background on that, the reason for that was our debt-equity ratio was set up based on balance sheet debt equities, and it resulted in excess debt compared to the deemed debt levels.

There was a clawback here through the SIMPIL spreadsheet, but that is really the first that we were aware that there would ever be a clawback, and I guess I would question why it shows up in the SIMPIL spreadsheet when, I guess -- has the Board decided on or ruled on that, per se?

MR. SKINNER:  It is part of the guidelines of the whole process since 2001.

MR. GRIBBON:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Generally speaking, most utilities under-leveraged over this period rather than over-leveraged; is that right?

MR. SKINNER:  I think that is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The few that over-leveraged had excess interest deductions, and if they say PILs, they had to adjust their 1562 accordingly so that they didn't get the benefit of the extra shelter.

MR. SKINNER:  That's the way the model was created.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that, like the other issues, was something that was not part of a broad Board decision.  It was simply part of the guidelines?

MR. SKINNER:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, I understand.  Yes, Brian.

MR. D'AMBOISE:  Just a question on that point, and it does apply to Brantford Power, in particular, but just so I understand the logic, if you have excess interest, the original revenue requirement would have only required recovery of the deemed interest.

So if the utility actually incurred interest over and above the deemed interest, it would seem to me that the ratepayers should not get the benefit of the additional tax deductions, because they didn't contribute to those expenses.

Could you comment whether I have that backwards?

MR. SKINNER:  No.  I think you have characterized it correctly, that there hasn't been a Board decision on that issue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the other side of that, at least when MARR was finally phased in, the other side of that was that anything that -- any over-leveraging meant there was less taxable profit.

So the result of the higher interest is that the PILs goes down and the higher PILs amount is collected.

So at least theoretically, the utility gets their full cost of capital.  In fact, they get more than their cost of capital, because they have over-leveraged, plus they get extra PILs they didn't actually pay.

Now, the phase-in of MARR and the suspension screwed that all up, but, in theory, it should actually hurt the ratepayers to over-leverage from a PILs point of view; isn't that right?

MR. SKINNER:  I think you are right, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. GRIBBON:  Sorry, I missed the last point.  Could you repeat that?  It would hurt the ratepayer?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, it would hurt the ratepayers, because the utility would collect in PILs more than they actually paid, because the extra interest that they paid is replacing return on equity.  So that is not actually a net cost.  In fact, it is a net benefit to the utility.  And the fact it is not taxable means they're collecting more PILs than they actually paid.

MR. GRIBBON:  I would disagree that there is an impact to the customer.

The rates are generated based on the deemed debt-equity ratios.  So whether the utility is set up at that deemed level or not, there is no impact to the customer whatsoever that I can see.  Am I correct on that, Mr. Chair?

MR. SKINNER:  I would rather not make a judgment call on it, because I think that requires a Board member to do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There is a policy issue there as to what is your starting point.  Is the starting point you recover what it actually costs you to run the utility, which means, if your PILs is lower, you only recover what it costs you, or is your starting point a deemed capital structure and so that is the right number and anything else doesn't matter?

Both points are legitimate points, I take it, but if you use the theory that the deemed structure is how you set the rates, then there is the potential that you will recover either more or less than capital actually costs you because of adjustments to PILs or the difference between the debt rate and the equity rate.

MR. GRIBBON:  I would argue that it is not a theory.  It is an actual fact on how the rates are derived.  It is based on deemed debt equity.  It is not based on actual equity.  It is a calculation based on deemed debt equity.

In our case, that was 55 percent debt, 45 percent equity.

Now, in actual fact, it was -- our actual equity and actual debt is based on balance sheet debt-equity, and for rate-making purposes it is based on a rate base calculation which is not mirrored on the balance sheet.

So there is no different calculation in our rates based on our setup, or any other utility in the province, for that matter, because we had a higher debt level.  There is no different calculation on rates.  It is basically the same.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but the amount of PILs you paid was different?

MR. GRIBBON:  The amount of PILs that we paid was different.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in the extreme case where you finance 100 percent with debt, you have one dollar equity, and then you pay no tax; right?  At least theoretically you pay no tax.  You collect PILs from the ratepayers, but you don't have to pay it to anybody.  You get to keep it.

I'm not saying that in a pejorative way.  That may be the right answer, but at least you have to recognize that there is that disjunct, and, therefore, the principle that you collect from the ratepayers what it costs you to run the utility is altered in that situation, because that cost, the PILs cost, is not an actual cost.

Now, that doesn't mean that that -- that you should match them exactly.  In fact, the Board decided in 2006 that you don't match them exactly, that you treat it as separate, but at least you have to recognize that difference.

MR. GRIBBON:  I think we agree to disagree on that one.

At this point, if I could just add one general comment, we made that point in our letter that we submitted on January 12th.

We fall under a different section of the act, and I would hope we are included in the outcome of this proceeding.  I think we're the only utility in the province that, by virtue of the fact we are owned by Hydro One, other than Networks, but the fact we are owned by Hydro One, we do fall under a different section of the act, and section 93 I think was explicitly targeted for this proceeding.

So I just wanted to make that point, that we had hoped that we would be able to dispose of our balances in the account 1562 the same as any other utility that would fall under section 93.

MR. THIESSEN:  I think we took it as such, and that is acknowledged and you made that submission, so...

MR. SKINNER:  Page VI, number (f), PILs billed versus collected:
"The PILs amount collected from customers is deemed to be the billed amount payable without delay."

There were several utilities that were actually trying to track the PILs being collected from customers as they aged their receivables.  And if I can use an example of the Stelco bankruptcy, the loss was about 9-1/2 million dollars.  Of that, the distribution revenue was only $72,000, and of that there is only a little piece that is PILs.

So, from our perspective, it seemed a reasonable approach that the billed amount would represent the amount that the customer had paid the utility irrespective of when the receivable was actually collected.  And I am not sure how people feel on that.  It would be interesting to find out from the three who did file, how they came up with that collection or recovery number from their customers, and anyone else who has an opinion on it.

MR. PERRY:  Yes.  On behalf of Barrie Hydro, we determined it as billed, not -- we didn't get into trying to age or, if it was uncollectable, trying to back out the PILs portion.

So whatever was originally billed to the customer, and the portion that pertained to PILs of that billed amount was what we put in as the collected amount.

MR. SKINNER:  And at each December, did you take the PILs component from your unbilled revenue accrual and include that as recovered from customers as well?

MR. PERRY:  No.  We did that at the period after May 1st, 2006.  We didn't do it on a yearly basis, we did it at the end of the period.  So, of course, there was things billed after May 1st, 2006, consumption that pertained to prior to May 1st, 2006.  We could identify how much of that was consumption prior to May 1st, 2006 and how much was after.

So we utilized or recognized that amount that was billed on May 31st, and, you know, if it was 1,000 kilowatt hours, you know, it represented, say, 50 percent of prior to May 1st consumption and 50 percent of after May 1st consumption.  So we identified the PILs portion of the 50 percent that pertained to before May 1st consumption.  So we actually kind of identified the end billed at the end of the process.

MR. SKINNER:  But at no time during the 2002 to 2005 process did you use your unbilled revenue accrual and remove the PILs portion in there?

MR. PERRY:  No.

MR. SKINNER:  Okay.

MR. DAVIDSON:  Halton Hills Hydro also confirms that we used the actual PILs billed, rather than that collected -- rather than PILs billed -- I mean, the actual amount billed to customers, rather than collected.

And from the unbilled standpoint, for the majority of the years we did use unbilled at December 31st, and as at April 31stt we did, again, use unbilled.

MR. SKINNER:  So the PILs portion of your unbilled revenue accrual was shown as recovered from customers?

MR. DAVIDSON:  Correct.

MS. KEYS:  EnWin used the amount billed to customers in the calculation.

MR. SKINNER:  And how did you handle your unbilled revenue accrual at each December?

MS. KEYS:  We did not adjust that each December.  We adjusted it at April 30th, 2006, I believe it was.

MS. ABI-RASHED:  Can you speak up, please?

MS. KEYS:  For the unbilled revenue adjustments, we did not adjust each December.  We adjusted at April 30th, 2006.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, Lynne Anderson from Hydro Ottawa.  I think that both methodologies, whether you adjusted or didn't, I think can result in the same -- the same amounts over the course of the PILs proxy period.  So I hope that there isn't some question that one is correct and one is not.

I think that, as long as you are taking into account the amounts, again, being billed to the customers, and either you are looking at the energy being billed in that PILs proxy period and determining it, and then basically at April 30th you are considering the fact that you are considering to bill for energy prior to May the 1st, or you are accruing it at each period, I think in the end it all results in roughly the same amount.  I mean, that has been our assessment, so...

MS. McLORG:  Just to comment further on Lynne's point.  So the assumption would be then that if you don't adjust for unbilled on an annual basis for a calendar year, then the original -- there should be some original adjustment at March 1st, 2002 when this went into effect to back out consumption from before that period.

Is that the understanding that you are working on, Lynne?  So that really, you are just going from the beginning of the PILs regime to the end of it, versus a calendar approach.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.  You would be considering the energy billed for the period starting May 1st, 2002.  In other words, the energy consumed after May 1st -- sorry, March 1st, 2002 up 'til the energy consumed, April 30th, 2003, regardless of when you actually ended up billing it.

You may not have billed it.  Things may have shifted by two months because of billing cycles, but in the end you are taking into account the same period of time, whether you just did an accrual or not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are these material amounts, the annual adjustment?  Are they material?

MS. ANDERSON:  I guess an accrual at year end could be, but, again, you are looking at the whole period from March 1st, 2002 to April 30th.  Either you are showing an increased amount billed in March 2002 or a lower amount then and a higher amount in April 30th, 2006.

So it is a question of whether the amounts -- two months' worth, basically, of billings -- are shifting from one period, perhaps.  But in the end it is the same amount being billed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, I understand.  As long as an accrual is backed out the next year, it ends up netting zero.

MS. ANDERSON:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you end up -- you should be getting actual in the end.

My question was a timing question.  If these are material amounts, it affects the timing of the amounts that go into 1562, right?  But I suspect that they're not big enough to matter.  Is that fair?

MS. ANDERSON:  I haven't determined the amount, but it would be roughly a month or two months' worth of --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it would be 15 days of --

MS. ANDERSON:  Something like that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- of bills.

MS. ANDERSON:  I haven't determined that.

MR. SKINNER:  Barrie's actual financial statements, 2006 -- these are the audited statements -- accounts receivable are $22 million, unbilled revenue 15 million- eight.  So it is a substantial number.  And the PILs portion of that $15.8 million is a large enough number to talk about it.

MS. ANDERSON:  Sorry, that is predominantly cost of power, so I would disagree with you that the distribution portion is probably in the nature of 15 percent of that, and then the PILs portion of that is even a smaller percentage of the distribution portion.

So I think going right from the financials is misleading, because the distribution portion is dwarfed by the cost of power of revenue that is accrued.

MR. PERRY:  And you have to take into effect, too, that the unbilled adjustment at December 31st, the net effect is really just a change from the prior year's December 31st unbilled number to the current year's December 31st unbilled.

So when you take that, which is a small change, and then, as you mentioned before, Duncan, the portion of PILs in that number is very -- the example that Stelco used is actually a very small number.  So for Barrie Hydro anyway, that change wasn't material.

MR. SKINNER:  Where it comes out at the three utilities that provided evidence, if you look at the continuity schedule or summary schedule and you compare the amount recovered from customers to the original proxy amount, you will notice in Halton Hills' case the amount recovered seems to be slightly more than the proxy amount.

In the case of Barrie, the amount recovered is slightly more than the proxy amount.  In the case of EnWin, the amount recovered is less than the proxy amount in each year.

So there are variations.  And I don't know if the variation is caused by the unbilled revenue accrual, if it's caused by customer account growth, volumetric growth.

So two out of three recoveries are more than proxy, and one out of three recovery is less than proxy.  And it is something that needs to be touched on in evidence when the account is cleared, that the -- because in the evidence submitted right now, there is no summary that shows how the recoveries were computed.

And I know it is difficult, because in 2002 there was a fixed component of the rate and a volumetric component of the rate.  And it was in two parts.  There was a 2001 part and a 2002 part.  Then people had fairly complicated worksheets to try to keep track of all of it to come up with what the recovery from customers was.  We didn't ask for that to be submitted in the evidence today.

MR. SKINNER:  Any other comments on PILs billed versus collected?  (g) says:
"Account 1562 represents the obligation to or receivable from ratepayers.  The principle is that the contra account 1563 would be used for tracking purposes and are not eligible for disposition."

Some utilities in 2008 actually applied to dispose of 1563, but not 1562.  That's why that is in the paper.  Does anyone disagree that 1562 is not the control account?

No?

MR. SASSO:  Duncan, if I can just note -- and EnWin did inadvertently and incorrectly seek disposition of both, and you may find that there are certain models that are out there that utilities are using for rate applications that have it built in.  So there may be a common thread to identify that.

I guess there is, you know, sort of the issue about how, then, you clear out -- just from a technical accounting standpoint, how you clear out 1563, and while we may not call it disposition, that would just inevitably of course have to be part of the equation and what the mechanics -- we talked a while ago about how you would go about doing that, and that would certainly be something where we would need some guidance from the Board.

MR. SKINNER:  Yes.  It was inserted in here to establish that the entries that you book into 1562 are what the Board would opine on.  That's what would go through rates.

Then the accounting entries to clear 62 and 63 would be developed.

MR. THIESSEN:  I just had a discussion with the Board Panel, and they informed me that they are willing to proceed further, after today, with a round of interrogatories.

So we don't have to worry today, then, about undertakings.  There will be a round of interrogatories after this day.  So there will be a procedural order that goes out shortly after we are finished this technical conference, just for clarity.

We have finished appendix A in the Board Staff report.  We addressed those issues.  Unless there is anything someone else wants to add in at this point, we will continue along with appendix B and the issues outlined there

MR. SHEPHERD:  Harold, before you go there, we have raised three things not mentioned in appendix A, but probably come within that category, so I wonder if I could raise them.

MR. THIESSEN:  I believe that makes sense.  Go ahead.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The first is the September 17th, 2001 letter from the Board invites utilities to -- who feel that the cash flow burden of the new PILs obligation would cause them a problem, to make application for a rate adjustment or some -- make application for relief and give some instructions how to do that.

I didn't see that discussed in the Staff paper, and I didn't see any analysis of what the implications of that were.

I wonder if you could perhaps help us with:  Did people apply, and, if they did, what are the implications of that for 1562?

MR. SKINNER:  My recollection is no one applied.  The feedback from the utilities was that the application process and requirements were too onerous and they would rather wait for the filing instructions for the 2002 application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Nobody thought it would be 2009 before they were clearing the variance account?

MR. SKINNER:  No.  Nobody predicted Bill 210.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Surprise.  Okay, the second item we identified is, in the SIMPIL model guide for 2005, there is a comment that some LDCs have already gotten orders for recovery of 1562 as part of regulatory assets, presumably in error, but, nonetheless, they were included.

Did that, in fact, happen, and do we have a list of who those were and what the implications are?

MR. SKINNER:  It did happen.  I do not believe there is a list presently.

It happened because the work sheet and the application filing model had the account listed, and we took 25 percent of the net balance.

So for those utilities that were following method 3 using 1562 and 1563, the net result was zero.

For those using method 1 or method 2, the net result could have been 25 percent of a number being recovered.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we know whether any of the three utilities that are in this proceeding did that?

MR. SKINNER:  I don't recall.  But in the instructions for 1590 - this is the disposition from the reg asset proceeding - the amount recovered from customers was attributed to accounts other than 1562.  So no matter what was recovered, zero was assumed to be recovered for 1562, because 1562 was excluded from the reg asset proceeding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it would affect the recovery calculation, the amount to be recovered, but it wouldn't affect 1562?  You wouldn't credit 15 -- or reduce 1562?

MR. SKINNER:  That's correct.  Any dollars assumed in the model to have been recovered regarding the balance in 1562 was assumed to apply to all other accounts, not 1562.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So now under the regulatory assets rules, wasn't there a true-up of that at the end of the process, a true-up of the recovery?

MR. SKINNER:  Of 1590, yes.  So the instructions were to take each of the balances that the Board approved for disposition, put that account to zero or the amount to zero, and place the amount to be recovered or repaid into 1590.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. SKINNER:  That was the instruction.  1562 was left alone.  There was no reduction of the amount.  So the full amount recovered went into 1590 as recovery.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So am I right that the effect of that would be that anybody who calculated their recovery, including 1562, would have over-recovered, and, thus, the true-up at the end would have adjusted for it?

MR. SKINNER:  No, because the next application said, Use what the Board approved for recovery in the previous application, which was a dollar amount.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. SKINNER:  Subtract that from the balance -- so the 2004 application used 2002 balance; the 2005 application used the 2003 balance; using the 2003 balance and deducting everything except 1562, and divide that by three, got the next adjustment for rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So can any of the three utilities tell us whether they used method 1 or 2 for regulatory assets and whether the effect would have been that they recovered some of 1562?

MR. SKINNER:  They should be able to tell you.

MR. SASSO:  We used the option 3, 1563.

MR. SKIDMORE:  We used option 3.

MR. PERRY:  We used option 3, but our understanding was that we didn't have to use account 1563, so we did not use account 1563.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just 1562.

MR. PERRY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then have you adjusted for that in your calculations of 1562, as some of it has already been recovered?

MR. PERRY:  Yes.  I would have to follow it through.  If I understand Duncan correctly, the 1562 balance never changed.  So what is in 1562 was still the -- has all of the amounts.  There was nothing ever moved out of 1562.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have actually recovered 25 percent of it already?

MR. PERRY:  If I follow along what Duncan was saying, that if the balance that was moved into 1590 included some of those dollars in 1562, then -- if that is correct, then, yes, we probably collected some of that.  But the balance to recover in 1562 was never adjusted, if I follow the logic that Duncan mentioned.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How do we nail down how to deal with this?  Duncan, do you have any ideas?

MR. SKINNER:  I think it would be analysis of the 1590 account.

MS. ANDERSON:  Could I just clarify of this?  I thought of the very first application.  We used method 1, so we were one of the ones that would fall under this methodology.

I followed the very first applications almost like an instalment of funding or recoveries, until you actually went in your 2006 rate application for final disposition of all accumulated balances.

And that basically said everything that is accumulated since the beginning of time, regardless of what you have recovered, is now being approved.  Subtract out all of the amounts that you have already recovered, and that is the amount that is left to be recovered.

So, from our perspective, because the final disposition did not include 1562, we have not recovered -- well, or paid back any of 1562 as a result of that application.

So it is kind of like saying you got a funding instalment that got subtracted out of the file disposition, which did not include 1562.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I understood Duncan to be saying was that 2006 calculation assumed that the previous amount that went into 1590 was right.  And, therefore, that if there was an error in that because of how the model was structured, then that error would be carried through.  Isn't that right?

MR. SKINNER:  I don't think so, Jay.  I would have to go back and look at the reg asset model and the instructions for what was to be deducted in each of the applications.

But my understanding of the way that all of the models were created and the way the process was done, that nothing has been recovered on 1562, and that one application, where a 1562 balance may have had 25 percent inserted into the rate, anything collected was assumed to apply to all other accounts.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then what we talked about earlier, that that would -- I think what you are saying, Lynne, is that there would then have been, in effect, an over-collection of the accounts that did count for 1590.

MS. ANDERSON:  For that very first period, which was then adjusted in the next application, because you always subtracted out the amount that recovered.

So in the end, your final rates for final disposition assumed all the amounts that you had already recovered.  So if you had over-recovered in that period because of PILs, it got subtracted out so that the final balance was the right amount going in.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That makes sense, but I guess at some point somebody has to go through and verify that that actually worked out that way.  Who would do that?

MS. ANDERSON:  I know in our case it did.  So I can't speak for every LDC.

MR. SKINNER:  I guess the final resolution of all of these accounts was expected to be trued-up in 2008.  And I am not sure that that does complete it.  So I think, in answer to your question, it would be the final resolution of every balance that the Board has ordered for disposition, 1999 through 2006, the old regime as opposed to the new one.

MS. ANDERSON:  And that is a good point, Duncan, is that we do need a final disposition now of account 1590 which has a balance in it, which will have to be, I guess, cleared through customers, either a credit or a debit.  I am not sure which.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then the third item that we have identified that looks, to me, like it is in the appendix A category is, there is no discussion of cost allocation in this.  PILs is a big amount.  And 1562 amounts have been recovered over time.

There is no discussion of how that was allocated
for -- how the cost has been allocated -- and I don't think it was necessarily the same for all utilities -- and how the clearance would be allocated.  And I would pose the question:  Is that an issue that we have to address?

MR. SKINNER:  The allocations in the 2002, '03 -- or 2002, '04, and '05 applications was based on the revenue requirement shares from the original unbundling application, and that continued, I am pretty sure, into the 2006 EDR.

So that whatever the revenue shares in the 2000/2001 applications carried through into 2006, and the only time that the cost allocation changed was in 2008.

So the fixed variable split approved for the Board in unbundling was the way it was recovered from each rate class and the way it was allocated to the rate class was based on revenue shares in unbundling.  So that would be your 1999 financial statements in that original application.

And then the disposition recovery, your second question, would have to be decided as part of whatever this process is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but I guess in 2002 and '03 recovery was fixed and variable, right?

MR. SKINNER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In 2004 and '05 it was just variable.

MR. SKINNER:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that affected different customers.  Schools, for example, got hurt by that change, right?

And so that I guess the question is that no decision was ever made on that, right?  They have just -- it was done.

MR. SKINNER:  Well, that I don't know.  I think there was a Board decision that it would be recovered on variable only.  That wasn't a Staff decision.  It is in the decision and orders that it would be recovered on a variable rate, rather than a fixed and variable rate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I understand.

MS. ANDERSON:  Just to Jay's point, I think it is a good point that as part of this proceeding it does make sense to have a standard approach for allocating any disposition for this account, and there have been standard approaches for other accounts, whether it would be, you know, kilowatt hours, kilowatts, or -- I do note that those that were directly related to sort of distribution costs were allocated based on distribution revenue.  And I think that is the approach that we have proposed, but we are certainly open to other suggestions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Generally, distribution revenue seems likes the logical cost-allocation principle, the logical billing determinant.  But you then have the fixed/variable split, and it is not obvious to me that it should be all variable, so...

MS. ANDERSON:  Sorry, the complexity there was that in the first year, I believe, of the PILs proxy it had both a fixed and variable component, and it was in subsequent years that PILs became a variable component only.  So there is a bit of a split.  Certainly the complexity of it reduces significantly if it is simply variable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. THIESSEN:  If there is no other comments on those issues, why don't we get briefly into appendix B and the first issues there before we break for lunch.

MR. SKINNER:  I think a number of parties made submissions on this.  The instructions in the Accounting Procedure Handbook was to take the fourth-quarter PILs proxy, divide it by three, and make an entry into the 1562 account for October, November, December 2001, even though the entry wasn't recorded until 2002, and again, with the 2002 proxy, to divide it by 12, and make your first entry in January.

And the question posed here is that there were several utilities who elected not to implement rates and did not win rates effective until after market opening, some as late as November of 2002.

The instructions that were included in APH were written basically for those that were implementing rates effective March 1.  And there was only a two-month lag, and it wasn't considered at that time to be -- that, this whole thing about the phasing of rate year versus calendar year.

But given that there were several who didn't have rates effective, and therefore their revenue wasn't higher until, say, November 1 in this example, if they followed the instructions, they would be recording entries in January, even though the higher taxes didn't take effect until November 1, because the revenue wouldn't go up until November 1.

I don't know how many there are in this case.  There are some.  I don't know how material it is.  It may or may not be material to the individual utilities.

So it is posed as a theoretical issue.  It is actually a practical issue, because I think there were ten or 11 original applicants from 2002 that asked for rates to be effective after market opening.

Yes, Colin.

MR. McLORG:  Duncan, just by way of a clarification question, would you know offhand whether the utilities who requested to have rates implemented at a later time had a revenue requirement approved by the Board that reflected that late rate implementation and was, therefore, lower?  Or was it the case that their approved revenue requirement was unchanged relative to what it would be if they had implemented rates at the usual time and they simply forewent, I think is the word, the amount of money that resulted from not implementing rates until a later time?  Do you see the difference in...?

MR. SKINNER:  My recollection is that those that asked for an implementation and effective date considerably after March 1 said, We will forego the revenue.

So they didn't get a rate rider to pick up the lost revenue just because they were implementing at a later date.  They gave up that revenue.

MR. McLORG:  And their PILs proxy would, as a result of that, be significantly larger than were it the case that their entire approved revenue requirement was based on implementation of MARR at a later time.

MR. SKINNER:  I think that depends on the way the application was filed.

MR. McLORG:  I see.

MR. SKINNER:  They may have calculated PILs as part of revenue requirement with effect from March 1 and said, I don't want to implement rates until August 1, September 1, November 1.  So the PILs was based on a full-year calculation, but not implemented until later in the year.

MR. McLORG:  Thanks.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This doesn't affect any of the three applicants here; right?

MR. SKINNER:  I don't believe so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we have an example of how that played through in account 1562 for affected utilities?

MR. SKINNER:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How they filed?  I mean, until we see what the effect is on the account, relative to what their actual revenue requirement was, I think Colin's point is well taken, that their actual tax obligation would be different.

MR. SKINNER:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I don't know how we can deal with this issue if we don't have some examples to look at.

MR. SKINNER:  Is that a question, to develop an example?  I can consider it.  I have to go find the applications.  I know who filled the -- it was a consultant that did them all the same way, and it is only finding those that asked for delayed implementation.

Is it material?  I don't know if it is material.  It may be material to the individual utility, but probably not to the majority of utilities in the province.  But if it is a generic policy statement, then it has to apply to all and that is why we posed it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. SKINNER:  Number 2 on page VIII, PILs amount for the fourth quarter 2001, the PILs proxy for 2001 was meant to remain in rates until the 2003 rate adjustment, that did not happen.  And the question posed is:
"Should the 2001 PILs amount included in rates, which was trued up in 2002, also be trued up in 2003 and 2004, or up to the date the Board removed this amount from rates?"

And I believe there are submissions on this issue.  It is a two-point issue that has been raised in submission.  One is the recovery from ratepayers and how you would characterize that, and the second one is the true-up items have been calculated and posted to the 1562 account only ones.

I don't know what the materiality is.  For some, it was a large number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and of course the broader issue is this is all because of a government action to freeze, and the broader issue is whether the freeze froze everything, meaning take it as it is, or whether the Board should be looking through the freeze to see what did the government intend to freeze and what did it not intend to freeze.

And I think Toronto has, in their submissions, indicated a freeze is a freeze, and that is a fair position.

But I guess it would be useful to know, from the three examples here, what the effect is of both of those issues, both the Q4 '01 amount being continued, and the true-ups not being correct in the subsequent years.  Indeed, there is a third issue, which we've raised in our submissions, and that is that the PILs amount was based on an income amount that was no longer correct in those subsequent years.

So, I mean, none of it was attached to reality, in any way.  So if you true-up Q4 2001, does that mean you have to true-up the other things, too, fix them, as well?  It would be useful if we could figure out what the impact of this is on the example utilities.

MR. THIESSEN:  Any comment from the three utilities?

MR. DAVIDSON:  In Halton Hills' case, I think just looking at the way 1562 is constructed, we've got the Board-approved PILs tax proxy from our decisions, and then we are netting it out against our PILs collected from customers.

So, essentially, for the way it shows in 1562, is we've got it in our rates.  We've collected it.  At the end of the day, it is zero.

So our Q4 2001 amount was $246,317.  So I guess from Jay's perspective, that is what we would have over-collected from customers.  From a 1562 perspective it flows through and is zero.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess what I'm suggesting is that, in fact, whether you over-collected or under-collected depends on what an appropriate PILs proxy would have been in those subsequent years.  It was frozen, so you didn't have a different one; right?

MR. DAVIDSON:  Correct, yes, yes.  It was frozen, so that is what we are stuck with.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. SKINNER:  In Halton Hills' case, you have an entry of $42,705 in 2002 in your continuity schedule.

MR. DAVIDSON:  Yes.

MR. SKINNER:  And that would come from the 2001 SIMPIL model filed in the summer of 2002; is that correct?

MR. DAVIDSON:  Correct.

MR. SKINNER:  So there is an example of a true-up item not related to recovery that is in the continuity schedule once.  Now, it happens to be a debit, recovery from ratepayer, and it has only been in here once.

So if you say it should true up, then you would put 43,705 in the 2003 column and prorate it in the 2004 column.  So there would actually be a higher receivable from customers in Halton Hills' example, if you said it should true up.  Everybody has something different.  Some have debits and some have credits.

So that $43,000 is only in a continuity schedule once, but they have included the 2001 proxy in accordance with the instructions out to 2004, and they have shown recovery against that proxy in their continuity schedule.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and I guess the point of doing the calculations for individual utilities, at least a couple, is to see whether this could be a big amount or an amount that is big enough to worry about, or not, because the way it works out right now, it is sort of a wash; right?

Maybe it hurts you.  Maybe it helps you.  Maybe you are even.  But it is random.

So I think it may not be a productive exercise to go through and have a complex policy for adjusting for that if it is small dollars, but we have to know whether it is small dollars to assess that.

MR. SKINNER:  In the evidence submitted from Barrie, there is an entry of $127,000, which I assume is from 2001, and that only appeared once.  EnWin has no variance from 2001 recorded in 2002.  So two of them have debits.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Does EnWin know what the Q4 amount
is -- Q4 2001 amount is?  I guess I would ask the same of Barrie, too.  In the case of Halton, it is quarter of a million?

MR. SKINNER:  Oh, you mean the proxy?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  The Q4 2001 component, the extra three months that's...

MR. SKINNER:  Barrie is 1.1 million, and EnWin's number is 1.9 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So these are big enough to worry about, then.

MR. THIESSEN:  Any other discussion on this issue from anyone else?

MR. SKINNER:  The next point is regulatory assets and liabilities.

MR. THIESSEN:  I am wondering whether this might be a time to break.  It is ten to 12:00, and so why don't we break for lunch and get back together at about, I don't know, 1:15.  Is that acceptable?

MR. McLORG:  Will this room be locked?

MR. THIESSEN:  I don't think it will be locked.  There is going to be a lot of people in the other hearing room watching the inauguration.  I don't think there is probably any problem with anyone wandering over there, if they are interested.

I think, you know, probably by 1:15 that should be wrapped up and watch George Bush's plane take off.  Then we will come back here.  Okay, 1:15.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:51 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 1:19 p.m.

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay.  If we wanted to get started again.  This morning we finished up to page 8 of the Board Staff paper, appendix A.  Actually, we were on appendix B already, and we finished with the PILs amount for the fourth quarter of 2001.

Now, are there any other comments before we move along on that?  Lynne?

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, I guess I had occasion to mull things over over the lunch break and had a follow-up question on the 2001 issue.

I think, as we discussed at the beginning, you know, none of us are rehashing the arguments -- or the positions that we have stated in our papers, and I think those stand.

But I guess my question is more for Board Staff, about what was happening.  And perhaps, were there things happening internal to the Board at the time that Bill 210 came in?

We know that it was enacted in 2002 and essentially froze rates, or basically said that whatever rate orders were in effect remained the rate orders that were in effect.

And at that time I would have thought that the Board did deliberate on what was the meaning of those clauses of the legislation, which I think will go to the question of what does "frozen" mean -- I mean, our position is, frozen is frozen -- and were there things that they were deliberating on?

And then the follow-up part to that was, in 2004 the Board determined that the PILs proxy for 2004 would indeed change, and we know that they had direction to allow us to recover regulatory assets, but there wasn't specific direction to change other components of the rates.

So was there some directive or something that changed to the OEB in 2004 that led to the change in the PILs proxy?  And basically, what this goes to the question is, did something change between '03 and '04?  If it didn't, then the fact that there was no change in the PILs proxy for '03 would go to the question that, if the Board had intended to do it, they would have done it.

So, I mean, the answer may be you don't know, you know, to be fair, but, you know, that was a very major piece of legislation, and I would have thought the Board would have deliberated around, what does it mean to have frozen rates, or what did those clauses in the legislation mean, and then, particularly, what changed come 2004 to lead to a change in the PILs proxy?

MR. SKINNER:  My recollection is that there was very little discussion after Bill 210 legislation was introduced.  We were prohibited from doing anything with electricity ratemaking.  And all of the rate staff were switched on to gas cases.

We received authority from the Minister -- and I think the letter is public --

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.  But it is about the regulatory assets.

MR. SKINNER:  -- saying that the Minister would allow the collection of 25 percent of the 2002 balance, and that the Board was to look for ways to mitigate the rate impact of allowing that to go through rates.

And the elimination of the 2001 PILs proxy was one of those.  In fact, that was the only one.  So the 25 percent of reg assets went into rates, and the 2001 fourth-quarter PILs proxy was removed from rates, and those were the adjustments.

But there was no -- I can't recall very many conversations.  I think the conversations were more, when will the Board get its authority back, as opposed to, what does it mean for this intervening period.

So we have no information that I can share that has to do with the interpretation of the legislation, other than, we had no authority unless the Minister issued a directive.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

MR. THIESSEN:  Any comments on that?  If not, we will move along to regulatory assets and liabilities.

MR. SKINNER:  The issue here is that there hasn't been uniformity in the way that utilities have dealt with regulatory assets and liabilities in their own tax returns.

So one side of the equation is, what was done in the development of the PILs proxy that was allowed in rates, and the other is the comparison to the actual tax return.

Some utilities kept the reg asset balances on their balance sheet and ran nothing through their income statement or through their T2 S1 on their tax return.  Some utilities kept it on the balance sheet and adjusted using the T2 S1, and recorded an expense in most cases where they did do it.

Some changed auditors in 2004/'05, and the auditor recommended that they go back and file amended tax returns to take the deduction for reg assets, which was permitted.

In Barrie's evidence, they submitted a letter from the Tax Department which I think has concluded that reg assets as a cost should be deducted in the year incurred, and that equally, a liability incurred should be shown as income in the year incurred.  And that is in the package that they submitted.

So we don't have uniformity, and we have the account cut off at April 30, 2006.  So the recovery of reg assets, which would create a debit entry in the 1562 account or recovery from ratepayer is not in the account, but the expensing, which is a bracket number in the PILs reconciliation, is in the 1562 account, but not for all utilities, only for some utilities.

So the question that has been posed -- and the information provided is in Enbridge's proceeding EB-2005-0001, Interrogatory Number 80.  IGUA asked a question of Enbridge, and it was to compare their regulatory tax provision to their actual tax returns, and they submitted evidence for 2002 and 2003.

And they show that reg assets do not appear in the regulatory tax provision, but do appear in the tax return.  And in one year, they had a number in excess of 200 million as an add-back, and in another year they had a number in excess of 100 million as a deduction.

So the question is -- being posed by Staff is, should the impact of reg assets be taken out of the reconciliation of the 1562 account because of the noise it does create and the anomaly of, only one side shows up in the account.

And I think a number of you have made submissions on that.  I am not asking you to repeat your position on your submission, but if you have anything to add beyond your submission, it would be helpful.


MR. ARMSTRONG:  Wayne Armstrong from Welland Hydro.

Just to add to this discussion, I mean, this paper talks about how the OEB would not allow for PILs recovery for regulatory assets in rates.

What about the case in the case of Welland Hydro?  We had loss carry-forwards which were solely due to reg asset timing, and they were built into the 2006 EDR process within our PILs model.

So we, in effect, shared PILs with our customers that really shouldn't have been shared with them, and then there was no mechanism within the 2007 IRM in order to correct that.  So we were almost into November of 2007 before we got that corrected.

How does that relate to this reconciliation of backing-out the reg assets within the PILs calculation, where, in effect, we shared for 17 months PILs with customers that really were timing issues and should not have been shared with customers?  I am not asking for a "reg" -- a tax recovery on reg assets.  I am saying we should have never shared them with the customers in the first place, because they were solely timing difference, based on the way the tax -- the PILs model for 2006 EDR was filed.

MR. SKINNER:  The Staff paper did not deal with loss carry-forwards, because of the -- there is no uniform answer to what the utilities have done.

So what we tried to do was look at -- because this proceeding is dealing with 1562 in isolation --

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Okay.

MR. SKINNER:  -- of the impact on 2006 or future years, and that is why it is not in here.

Your question is a valid question.  I don't have an answer for it.  It was the instruction that was given in the 2006 EDR handbook.  You have to forecast forward to December 31, 2005 and use as much of the loss carry-forward to that date.  Anything remaining after that date would be used in the 2006 EDR application.

But there is also some words in the EDR handbook that says, if, as a result of assessments or tax rulings, other changes might be considered.

And the only instruction for account 1592 had to do with large corporation tax, that the retroactive repeal should be recorded in both 1562 for the first four months of 2006, and in 1592 for the period May 1 to April 30, 2007.

So we really haven't dealt with what caused loss carry forwards, who owns loss carry forwards or what you do with them.

MR. SKINNER:  The court reporter can't hear you.

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Is that going to be addressed in some other proceeding, or is that up to the individual utility to bring this issue up?

MR. SKINNER:  I think there were only five or six utilities that had loss carry forwards.  So I would think, given that, that it is certainly under ten out of 85.

MR. ARMSTRONG:  Okay.

MR. SKINNER:  I think it would be incumbent on the applicant to file that application and provide the evidence.  I don't think it can be dealt with in a generic process.

Any other questions, observations or comments?

MS. ANDERSON:  Duncan, you were explaining the Enbridge case, and I do apologize.  I didn't get a hold of it and delve into it in detail.

What they -- the fact that there is a regulatory asset component in their actual taxes, but not in the amount for rates, understood, but what was the result of that case that was accepted?

MR. SKINNER:  I think it was just trying to find out how close the actual tax return was to the regulatory proxy that was being applied for.

MS. ANDERSON:  Right.

MR. SKINNER:  Because the regulatory asset movement - it was $200 million positive one year and $100 million negative the next year - it is such a large swing that there was no correlation for one year in isolation.  It is like looking at our process now.  We really need to look at 2001 to 2008 on most of these issues to see what the impact is as opposed to each individual, discrete year.

MS. ANDERSON:  But basically Enbridge stated why this happened and that was accepted?  Is that the outcome of --

MR. SKINNER:  I think the question posed by IGUA was:  Can you please provide an exhibit that will compare your regulatory proxy to your actual tax return?  And they did that.

I think ultimately it proved that the proxy request was reasonable, if you average the two years' worth of evidence that was provided.

MS. ANDERSON:  That essentially regulatory assets are a timing issue, that it all flows out?  As long as you treat it consistently for the period, it is just a timing issue?

MR. SKINNER:  Yes.  If the Board approves it for recovery, you get to recover interest on the regulatory asset balance, and the impact of that should not go through the tax proxy.  That is the underlying principle.

We have sort of confused that principle in the electricity PILs and taxes from 2001 through 2006.

MS. ANDERSON:  In some cases?

MR. SKINNER:  Yes, in some cases.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Duncan, Toronto had a description of how they thought this issue should be dealt with, and I am not sure we 100 percent understood it.  I wonder if Colin could take us through that position and result.  As I understand it, what you're saying, anybody who followed the model correctly, it is not a problem; is that right?

MR. PARKER:  Essentially what we said in our submission was that the regulatory assets and liabilities are just a timing difference, and, as a result of that, they shouldn't fall into the SIMPIL model, because if they are put into the SIMPIL model, which -- you end up having inequities when the 1562 account gets closed midway.

So what we're saying is the regulatory assets should be removed from the SIMPIL model, and then you don't have an issue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your suggestion is, for anybody who did it the other way, put it in the SIMPIL model during those periods.  They should simply recalculate it the way they should have done it?

MR. PARKER:  What we're saying is for Toronto Hydro's SIMPIL model, it should be removed.  I don't know that we are commenting on everyone's.  We are commenting specifically on ours.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I guess your suggestion is that there doesn't end up being an incomplete cycle problem, but for people who filed their tax returns in a different way, there could be such a problem, couldn't there?

MR. PARKER:  It is possible that there could be, that's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are not proposing a solution to it?

MR. PARKER:  We are proposing that it be removed.  If it is removed, then there is no issue.  You wouldn't have that result.  You wouldn't have the issue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. SKINNER:  I think what is being suggested is that in the SIMPIL reconciliation, the tax impact of reg assets would not appear, even though it appears in the real tax return.  It's one of these true-up anomalies where it is in the real world, but it is not in regulatory.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.

MS. ANDERSON:  If I could add a point to that, that sometimes it's showing up in your actual tax return, which shows up as a reserve, even though the reserve is basically regulatory assets.  So whether or not it is called -- you know, specifically what it is called, if it is about regulatory assets, then we followed, it sounds like, the same approach that Toronto would have taken.

MR. McLORG:  My only comment, Duncan, is that it does serve -- thank you.  It does serve as an example of a valid difference between the regulatory proxy for tax expense and what utilities actually incur.

I think it would be very helpful somehow - not necessarily right here, but somehow - if we could get to grips with the principles underpinning that, because I don't think that we should do it on an ad hoc basis, and I don't think that that is what Board Staff is suggesting in any way.

But I think there does have to come to be a clear understanding on everyone's part about what things belong to the shareholder, what things belong to the ratepayer and why everything falls into one of those two camps.

You know, what is the principle of discrimination between the two?

MR. SKINNER:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, in theory, you should be able to -- if you have identified all of the valid differences between actual taxes and the proxy, then you should be able to do a reconciliation of your tax return to your proxy each year?

MR. McLORG:  I am not an accountant, as you know, Jay, but I would think, in principle, that should be possible to do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that -- just on the face of it, it sounds like that might be difficult to actually accomplish.  Is that --

MR. SKINNER:  No, that is what the model does today.  You input the entire tax return and it compares only those components that have been agreed to, to the proxy.  So there are true-up and non true-up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.

MR. SKINNER:  The suggestion for a new model was really more to insert one or two new sheets that would be non true-up to make it easy to do any data entry and put all of the agreed-upon non true-up items on one sheet.  You put only the agreed-upon true-up items on another sheet.  That's not the way the model is calculated today.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.

MR. SKINNER:  It has a mix of agreed to and so sometimes not so agreed to, depending on which line you put the number on.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, okay.

MR. SKINNER:  So we talked about the incomplete cycle, which is on page IX, and I think everyone understands the concern with the incomplete cycle.

On page X, definition of over- or under-collection, this, I think, was discussed this morning and it has certainly been in the submissions.  There is one definition; that is, the difference between the proxy and the recovery from ratepayers is over-/under-collection and would be refunded or collected.

The other is the difference between proxy and the amount actually paid or the tax expense on the tax return.

We get communication from time to time quizzing us as to what the right answer is, and we only know what's been issued in guidelines.  We don't have a firm answer, but there is definite opinion in the room.

Would anyone like to restate their position and their submission or make an additional observation?

No?  Okay.

MS. ANDERSON:  If I could just point one little thing out, just the formatting of this section of the report, just to clarify, it appears in the report as a subsection under the regulatory asset issue, but I think it was meant to be an issue all on its own.

MR. SKINNER:  Yes, it is.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.  So it is not part of the reg asset?

MR. SKINNER:  No.  It has to do with the entire PILs proxy.

MR. THIESSEN:  Good point.

MR. SKINNER:  I am on page XI, number 5, calculation of variances for the stub period January 1, 2006 to April 30, 2006.  There are two issues.  One is the proxy for the period and the amount recovered from customers.  The second one is any true-up items, and should something be imputed, or should it just be ignored.  So there is two components to the issue.

There have been some suggestions that we should impute from the 2005 tax returns, and there have been other suggestions that we should ignore it because there is no tax return filed for the four-month stub period.

MS. ANDERSON:  And I think -- I don't want to reiterate our submissions, but the Board seemed to have deliberated on that as far as the 2006 rate handbook, where it did deem the whole of '06 calendar year to be the same as the '06 rate year, and therefore it seemed to have already covered that four-month period as far as these true-up items to a tax return.

To me, that is already incorporated into the fact that the Board deemed '06 to be, calendar year, rate year, the same.  That's a completely different issue than the variance between the PILs proxy and the amount collected from customers.  That is, you know, if that is the principle that is established, that would continue for that period.

You had, I think, 13 months of PILs proxy -- I think it was April 1st of 2005 to April 30th of 2006 -- and therefore, there should be 13 months of billings to customers to compare against.

MR. SKINNER:  Okay.  Any other comments?  No?

Part 2 on page XI, it is entitled "global items arising from the application of the SIMPIL model for which the Board has not provided guidance".  And number 1 is the impact of Ministry of Finance audits.

There are different audits underway.  Some have
been -- some utilities have been audited, I think, up to 2004, and Barrie submitted evidence on one of the letters that they got from the Ministry of Finance.  It indicates that there is -- that the bump-up at October 1, 2001 is still subject to review, that there is no finality on fixed assets, as far as any assessment or reassessment notice has been given.

And I think some utilities made submissions on that, that the C.C.A. doesn't true-up anyway in the SIMPIL methodology, and presumably, a reassessment of the bump-up would not affect any true-up in SIMPIL.  It might affect the 2006 rates, but it wouldn't affect the period 2001 to 2005.  So if we look at the 1562 proceeding or process in isolation, it may not impact it.

And the question posed was, should it have any effect on the Board decisions on this proceeding.  Other than what you have submitted, then...?

MS. ANDERSON:  I would add one thing.  I think we were indicating that, only insomuch as the items that are being trued up, if they were reassessed, which is not actually a high likelihood, then it would make sense to leave 1562 open.

The alternative, of course, is to close 1562 and record those entries in 1592, which I think it was what alluded to in the 2006 rate handbook.  That would be the corollary.

So I just wanted to make that point.  You could close off 1562 and record subsequent ones in 1592, but that the entries -- I mean, the likelihood of entries is probably not as high, because it should only be on those items that are subject to true-up.

MR. SKINNER:  Okay.  Number 2, interest true-up if recalculation is required.  There were a number of submissions on this.  And it was really intended -- the instructions right now are to calculate interest monthly.

If for some reason there is a recalculation and the balance changed, would you want to contemplate recalculating interest monthly, or would you just want to take the opening balance, closing balance, add it together, divide by two, and compute the interest at the appropriate interest rate on that?  That's really what that was trying to get to.

I think some submissions said, Just leave the interest alone.  We did it in good faith.  It was what it was based on the instructions we had, so let's not go back and recalculate interest.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't read those submissions.  Perhaps somebody who has made those submissions can explain why interest wouldn't be on the correct number, but should be on some incorrect number.

MR. SKINNER:  I think it had to do with the Bill 210 period, the fact that people followed instructions in good faith, and therefore the number is the number as calculated.  Even if the principal amount changed, the interest shouldn't change.  I think that is the way some of the submissions were written.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. McLORG:  Well, Duncan, I think it is reasonable to distinguish the cases as between an error and as between a change in rules.  And I don't -- I am not aware of any utility that favours a change in the rules retroactively, but I think that all of us would readily enough, upon discovery of an error that we had made, recalculate the interest.

And I -- again, I wouldn't be the one doing the heavy lifting by any means, but I don't see that it could be exceedingly difficult just to calculate the interest properly with a computer.  And so in any event, I guess that was our view of that.

One thing I did want to ask you by way of clarification is, what did you mean by "special treatment" in Part B of that question?  I say "you", but what did Board Staff mean?

MR. SKINNER:  Oh, if you recalculated it, let's say on a monthly basis, according to the APH handbook, and there was a difference between what was in your original evidence and what the recalculated number was, what should be done with the variance?  Should it be collected, refunded, ignored?

To Jay's point, he is suggesting you should recalculate the correct number based on the evidence, and that is what you should recover or repay.

MR. McLORG:  I wasn't aware that there was any, actually, tangible variance between the two, since there has not been a disposition of this account finally.

So the variance, I admit, exists on paper, but nothing has ever happened with it.  So presumably you would just deal with the number that is found to be correct in the end, if I am understanding you correctly.

MR. SKINNER:  Well, that is one way to do it.

MR. McLORG:  Thank you.

MR. SKINNER:  I think it is the preferable way to do it, but it's not my call.

The last one on XII, number 3, impact of MAADs on the PILs true-up variances.  And I can give you a practical example.  There is a utility that acquired three companies, amalgamation.  One large company had zero variance in the 1562 account and the other two had a number.  And on amalgamation the zero was added to the others.

And the dilemma here is, what do you do with the utility who did not follow APH, had zero in the 1562 account, and then on amalgamation that's been done on a consolidated base from that point forward?

And I think there is more than one.  There is certainly more than one with zero in the account.  But I know of one large utility that's part of an amalgamation.

So those that are stand-alone still and have zero in the account we can deal with.  They just haven't followed instructions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What are the alternatives you're suggesting?

MR. SKINNER:  Well, one alternative is to calculate the correct variance up to the date of amalgamation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So why wouldn't we do that?

MR. SKINNER:  That's why I am asking.  Because they have amalgamated.  And I think there was a submission made in the CLD submission that it should just be left.

MS. ANDERSON:  No.

MR. SKINNER:  Oh, the consolidated balance should be brought forward?  Is that not what was stated?

MS. ANDERSON:  No.

MR. SKINNER:  No?

MS. McLORG:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Who was the utility that had the example you gave?  What utility is the example you just gave?

MR. SKINNER:  It's PowerStream.  Vaughan was zero and the other two had numbers, and on amalgamation the zero was added to the others.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it wouldn't be that difficult for PowerStream to go back and do the accounts correctly.

MR. SKINNER:  I wouldn't think so.  It takes a few hours per year to do the reconciliation.

MS. ANDERSON:  Duncan, if I can paraphrase, the intent of the utilities' submission was simply that mergers and amalgamations tends to be unique circumstances.

Without guidance on how to fill out these PILs' proxies, people had to do their best effort to do it and it was very complicated; that a one-size-fits-all is probably not the answer, because every circumstance will probably be different.  I don't know how many of these mergers there are, whether there is so many to -- you know, that you can't look at each one on a unique basis and what did they do to allocate between entities, because they may all have different circumstances of when was one PILs proxy, were there one tax return?

So it just became too difficult to come up with one generic answer.

MR. SKINNER:  Yes.  That is our problem, too, is we can't have one generic instruction, because there is so many differences.

MS. ANDERSON:  Because I think every merger and acquisition is different.  That's the problem.

MR. SKINNER:  Hmm-hmm.  Yes, Laurie.

MS. McLORG:  I just wanted to add that the treatment of not only the filling in of the SIMPIL models which triggered the actual entries into 1562 -- so that's an issue on how to calculate them for business combinations for mergers and acquisitions, and particularly ones that changed, evolved through that period, but, also, disposition of the final accounts, because in some cases there are harmonized rates and in other cases there aren't.

So I think that each has to be done on a case-by-case basis, with the utility proposing its methodologies on calculations for allocating consolidated tax returns or single tax returns against many PILs proxies and for disposition of the accounts.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It would certainly be useful if we could identify the types of issues that arise so that -- in these situations, because I suspect that there is probably a half-a-dozen issues that arise commonly that could be dealt with as a matter of principle.

So, for example, the Vaughan case, the Board could decide as a matter of principle, if you did it wrong up to amalgamation, you have to fix it.

That's an easy principle to do, and it might apply in different ways in different ways cases, but at least you know what the rule is.  Similarly, if there is a question about the impact of harmonized rates, right, the Board can make a decision of principle.

Either everybody gets back the correct amount from the past, true up all the way back to 2001, or, alternatively, it can say, We can't go back and do that, it's too complicated, so harmonized rates is an intervening event that we are not going to take account of.  We are going to give it back to the customers at the current rates.

But it is a principle.  You can decide that principle.  It would be useful, I think, if we could find out if utilities in the room could identify what are those issues in MAADs applications that the Board can rule on.

There is many people in this room who have done a number of these transactions.  They must be able to identify what the PILs effects have been.  Laurie has mentioned one.

MR. SKINNER:  Part of it is purchase price, what was included in the purchase price.  If it was zero in the balance, how is it dealt with in the amalgamation and coming with values and assigning values to the different municipalities?  So that is one practical implication I could see.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, but that is an implication as between the shareholders, not between -- or buyer and seller, not as -- not from the Board's point of view.  It's not a concern of the Board; right?

MR. SKINNER:  Any other observations?  Okay.  There aren't a lot that amalgamated with a zero, but there are a few.  That's the end of it.

MR. THIESSEN:  That's the end of the issues that are raised in the Board Staff paper.  Are there any other issues anybody would like to bring up?  Jay brought up three already, and I think you had some more in your submission.  Was there anything else you wanted to add that hasn't been covered so far?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.

MR. THIESSEN:  Then unless someone wants to make any more statements about their particular filings or any other issues to do with 1562 PILs, I think we are done for today.

Oh, Andrew?

MR. SASSO:  I just want to make a suggestion in terms of how to proceed, so, Colin, if you want to make comments before that?

MR. McLORG:  Well, I was going to address the same thing, so after you.

MR. SASSO:  Let me see how this plays out, and Colin and others may have thoughts.

I just want to put it out as a suggestion, because it would certainly be a way that -- I guess it is the way that we had thought the process was going to unfold right from the get-go.

I am hoping that maybe in doing -- approaching it this way, maybe we can create a context that is a little bit more amenable to certainly our participation and, I think, the outcome.

I see it as sort of a four-step process.  What I would suggest is that the first step would be for Board Staff to develop a principles paper, which would essentially be proposed guidelines, revised guidelines, modified guidelines, updated guidelines on PILs filings, SIMPIL filings and that complete process for the 2001 through 2006 period -- for the 1562 period.

There would be opportunity to comment on that paper, just as we have done with these draft ideas, and really nail down the principles that need to be reflected.

From that, the second step would be to develop a modified model or models that would incorporate those principles, and then the third step would be for the named LDCs to refile or supplement the filing based on the modified models, so we would replug it in.  You could see how it worked with the old models.  You could see how it worked with the revised models incorporating the agreed-upon principles.

Then, fourth, at that stage, to get into technical conference, interrogatories, what have you, specific to the implications of applying the principles through the models for the specific LDCs.  So it would take us to a place where we know what the principles are, whether we have agreed on them, whether the Board issues some sort of report or order to that effect.  It would be incorporated into the model, and then whoever the named LDCs are - and we would certainly be prepared to be one of those LDCs - would give you both, and of course all of the stakeholders, both, and we can see how it shakes out when we apply the principles that we agree should be the principles by which we dispose of account 1562.

So I just want to put that out there as a suggestion, because I think it may get us a little closer to where we are hoping to get.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just ask a question of clarification?  Some of the issues of principle require that the Board, in reaching a conclusion, understand the details.  This is very much a devil in the details sort of situation.

I didn't hear from you how the Board would get enough actual hard evidence to understand the implications of some of the principles in order to make the principle decision.

So, for example, the question we were talking about earlier on effective tax rates requires that the Board actually look at what happens if you use -- what happens if you apply loss carry forwards in various ways, for example, to see whether they think the result of one approach or the other is fair.

That is just one example.  There are lots of them.  Do you have a suggestion for how the Board gets that hard data in to look at it and form a foundation for the principles?

MR. SASSO:  I guess I would first say that it is probably not possible that any process is going to eek out all of the devils in all of the details for all of the LDCs.  I haven't been around long enough, so others can comment.  I don't know how the, for example, the 2006 EDR model was developed, in terms of whether all of the devils and all of the details were extracted and determined.  So I leave that for others, in terms of what the general practice is.

My sense is that we don't tend to always know what all the devils and all the details are, which is why at the end of the day you have a case-by-case specific order, an LDC-specific order, that is going to be made.

So I would suggest that we all -- I would suggest that it is an industry norm that the Board sets out guidelines, we follow the guidelines, we file based on the guidelines.  What's, I think, different about this situation is, we are not sure that the guidelines are the Board's guidelines.  They're Board Staff and perhaps LDC-developed guidelines.

But I think that, unless we set down those principles, we hash through them.  We do the best we can.  I am just not sure that, in the process that is set out now, that trying to extract information from three LDCs is going to get us there anyway.

And I think we have seen that today, because there have been numerous examples today where the case simply didn't apply to EnWin, Barrie, or Halton Hills.

I don't have an ultimate solution to your question, but I don't know that the position we are in now -- I would suspect it is not that different than for other processes where the Board has developed other models in the past.

MR. THIESSEN:  Colin?

MR. McLORG:  There we go.  Harold, a couple of comments, if I could.  I think that, on Toronto Hydro's behalf, our thinking would be relatively parallel to Andrew's.  But I would also like to address the question that Jay raised.

I think that what has been demonstrated here this afternoon is that we have made some headway in trying to identify the issue, and we have gotten a better sense of where people are in -- throughout the process up 'til now.

But I think that there arguably is a need to identify what the policy foundations are, to begin with, and then follow that with a more conventional application approach, perhaps, or a combined-hearing approach, which itself would be more amenable or suitable for an interrogatory and an undertaking process dealing with facts, to dispose of the balances for each utility.

And I don't actually despair about that, because I think that it is not very different in a lot of ways than the process that the Board and intervenors and utilities went through to develop the principles and the specific filing guidelines and so on that went into 2006 EDR.

We all collaborated on that.  We had some issues of principle to deal with.  Some of them were dependent on fact.  And if you recall things like the Tier 2 exceptions and so on, those were largely fact-driven things.

But I think that the principles don't have to rely on demonstrations of fact.  They can almost rely on hypotheticals, or what you might call stating a case:  What if such-and-such happened with a loss carry-forward, or whatever.  And so I don't think it would be impossible for Board Staff and the Board to proceed from now by soliciting from intervenors and utilities what they consider to be a list of the issues of principle.

For example, how should the 2001 PILs stub be dealt with?  And there might be a list of, you know, 19 or 20 of those.  I've got no idea, but it would be a finite list.  I don't think it would be a long list.

There could be submissions, and whatever facts might need to be led I think could be led in those submissions to identify what the issue -- what the sort of issues of principle that need to be settled are.

And after settling those, then it could be, you know, an exercise in saying, Okay.  Well, based on these principles, is there any need to revise any of the information that's been put before the Board?  If not, then do nothing, and if so, then make the correction, and whatever remaining anachronisms there might be for each individual utility -- and I know that Toronto has some -- they would be dealt with effectively in the same way as special cases were in 2006 EDR.  You had a Tier 2 adjustment, the Board looked at it, et cetera, et cetera, judged it on its merits, and the case was decided.

So my -- in a one-sentence summary, I would just like to suggest that the Board solicit from participants in this proceeding right now their views on how best to proceed, and what I just said kind of represents off the top of Toronto's head, so to speak, what we would think would be most helpful to advance this.

MR. THIESSEN:  So are you saying that the Board -- or Board Staff or the Board should develop principles first, and then get your submissions on the principles, and then amend the principles?

MR. McLORG:  I think it is always useful to have a straw man, so to speak.  If you want to proceed without one, then I think that we could cope with that as well.

But I do think that what we have seen here today is that it hasn't turned out to be very effective to try and do principles and facts all at one time, and that it might be helpful to clarify for everyone if we could deal with the issues of principle first on a kind -- if you will, an abstract basis, not necessarily the principles as they're substantiated in any particular LDCs case, okay?  Get those done first, and then light the way for dealing with the fact-based elements of the questions.

MR. THIESSEN:  Jay?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The Board generally doesn't like to make submissions in the abstract, and I think for good reason.  I think the Board's found over the years that unless you look at what actually happens if you go this direction or this direction, you are prone to make bad decisions.

And so the Board has -- 2006 EDR is a good example.  It was a consultation process, and principles were very high on the agenda.  But we did a lot of talking about particular impacts, and people brought calculations to the meetings to talk about, Well, what happens if we do this, then this?  Here is the bad result that takes place.

And if we had not had that in the meetings, and if the Board had not had that in the subsequent hearing, it couldn't have made the decisions it made.

However, I take your point that it doesn't need to be actual utility situations, it can be hypotheticals, but somebody has got to do that.  And it may be that the most effective way is for Board Staff, if it's going to do a discussion paper, to say, Here's an issue, and here are the implications of going this way or this way.  Here is -- we have created a hypothetical, and we have run the model different ways to show what the result is.'

All I am concerned with is that we don't try to go -- don't try to do it without that basis.  Whether it is in -- you know, it is EnWin's information or it is hypothetical information, we have to know what the implications of the decisions are.  That's my only concern.

MR. THIESSEN:  Any other comments?

MS. ANDERSON:  I mean, I generally support -- you know, dealing with generic principles, much like the Rate Handbook, upfront before we get into details is probably the proper way to go.

The major difference -- and it is a principle, I think, here -- that is different this time is that we are looking retroactively, and not a year retroactively or two years retroactively.  We are going back.  We've got seven sets of audited financial statements that are based on the guidelines as we understood them, as were issued by what we thought was the Board.  I mean, it was only recently that we -- you know, we are sort of being appreciated that it wasn't the Board.

We will soon have eight sets of audited financial statements based on this guidance.  And that has to be a driving factor in Board's decisions on this.  Not to say that, if we were all sitting here and it was 2001 and we were having the same deliberations that we did on the '06 rate handbook, that we would have come up with the same rules and principles and guidelines, but those were the rules and principles and guidelines under which we were operating, and that has to take precedence when the Board is making its decisions, unless something can be proved to be truly, you know, unjust in some way, which I don't think will be the case.  I think it is just a matter of this principle or that principle.

So we have made that in our submission, but that has to be -- the fact that we're sitting here in 2009, this has not been a timely process.  We should have been, you know, dealing with these the first time we filed a PILs true-up model back in -- 2003, 2002?  I can't even remember now.  2002?  And the fact that we filed these balances quarterly, and so that there's been ample opportunity, but we are now where we are and that's got to be a factor.

MR. THIESSEN:  Well, just to comment on what Colin had said about issuing principles, I mean, isn't the Board's paper, as is, already sort of most of the principles that are out there?  They're just snot stated as principles.  They're stated as, This is an issue, how do we want to deal with it?  Right?

I mean, haven't we covered that ground a little bit?  Let me make that submission.  People think that that ground has been covered, or you think a whole new paper by Board Staff with more developed principles is required?  Is that what I am hearing from you, Colin, or...

MR. McLORG:  I think your comment is fair.  I think that it would still be hopeful, in our view, to have a chance to make final submissions on your paper, if you want to treat it that way, as being the statement of the issues of principle that need to be determined.

But I guess there is two things.  One is there could be other issues of principle, and I think that Jay has a few, as regards process, and so on, that the Board should make a determination on or should at least be aired.

Secondly, I think it would be very helpful to have some conclusion or determination of those principles that could serve as the foundation for, you know, a following process of discovery and determination about the facts as they apply to each individual utility.

I am not -- I don't feel very much as though there has been a thorough airing of -- although, you know, I admit we have had a kick at the can, but I don't think there has been really a thorough airing of questions like, Oh, you know, what were the approved rates in the period 2003 and 2004, and how does that relate to what amount should be trued up?  And I guess that is an awkward way of stating that question.

What I am getting at is that I think there are a number of issues of principle that could be identified and articulated, and we just need to have a clear resolution of them.  I don't think we have that right now.

MR. THIESSEN:  Jay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think the Staff paper has a useful history, and I think that the balance of it seeks to identify action items, issues -- matters that need to be resolved in order to clear the accounts.

What I don't think the Board paper does, and I think is maybe what Colin was earlier alluding to, is an analysis of the principles that are raised and the implications of going in one direction or another; that is, the analytical side of it as opposed to the identification of what's at issue.

I think that analysis of the pros and cons, particularly since you have a big body of information that allows you to look under the hood and see what might happen if you go this way or this way, would be very useful for all of us before we make submissions on which direction to go.

I mean, we have seen already in the discussion today that Duncan was able to talk about what would happen in the case of this issue, for example, what the underlying implications of that issue are, because he has seen the filings.

I think that a more detailed analysis would be useful for all of us.  I don't know.  Do other people have comments on that?

MR. THIESSEN:  Any other comments on that?  I mean -- well, go ahead, Duncan.

MR. SKINNER:  Several of you have raised Bill 210 in your submissions, and it's not something the Board has addressed.  But there's been hints that the period is inviolate and you can't make any changes to what's already been done.  There have been other suggestions that we have just heard recently that we should recalculate the numbers and see how it shakes out.

I am not sure how we should proceed with the period November 11, 2002 to December 31, 2004.

If there are any changes caused by this analysis or methodology, does the Board have the authority to make an adjustment that happened during that period?

So I don't know if it is the type of thing you would like to make a submission on, the legal issue of the Board's authority during that period, or if you don't want to touch it.

We certainly haven't touched it.  I don't think we have had to deal with the issue, but this proceeding deals with that period on a retroactive basis.

From a practical point of view, the 2003 complete year and the 2004 complete year were restricted, and you've got the partial period, 2002.

So the 2003 SIMPIL filed in 2004 and the 2004 SIMPIL filed in 2005 was filed under the restriction that was in place under section 79 of the OEB Act.

A practical example, the reg asset number was about $500 million at the end of 2002.  So if everybody took that as a deduction, there is 38 percent of $500 million sitting in the SIMPIL reconciliation.  There is one practical example.  Not everybody took the deduction.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It seems to me that implicit -- when you are clearing this account, implicitly you have to deal with that period.  There is no way you can avoid that.

In dealing with that period, either you treat it as you can't change anything or you're going to treat it as we have to get this account right during the period, "right" in quotes.

MR. SKINNER:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Whichever way you go, whichever way the Board goes, the legal issue is raised, because one -- some ox is going to be gored there.

So it probably makes sense for you, maybe as part of this Staff paper we are talking about or maybe as a threshold issue, to ask the parties to get their lawyers working on the legal issues surroundings that, because it's going to come up.  So you might as well, you know, meet it head on, it seems to me.

MR. SKINNER:  Okay.  Andrew, have you got...

MR. SASSO:  Just a final point, because I -- I don't know if -- there seems to be some consensus, at least among those who are speaking towards dealing with the generic issue before we deal with the specific LDCs.

I think that issue that Jay is raising goes to -- just because I want to finish on this point, it goes to really why I am emphasizing that we deal with the generic before.

If the three LDCs who have been selected chose not to advance certain arguments of principle such as that in the combined proceeding, it would put the Board in a very awkward position, and it would certainly put other stakeholders in a very awkward position in subsequent proceedings.

So that is why I am -- it is just an example, just to get back to examples, an example of why I am really hoping we deal with this, these generic issues, in advance of dealing with the LDC-specific issues.  We may not have, although I am sure we do have clever enough counsel, to raise these issues.  But I wanted to finish on that note, for our part, didn’t want to leave the  SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1sense from earlier today that we came to the party, but we want to take our ball home now and go.  You know, we are trying to offer some productive solutions and assist ourselves in making it a meaningful process for others.

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay.  Well, I guess from my perspective -- I am trying to summarize where we are here, in that we had the Board Staff's paper.  You have all had a look at it.  You all had a chance to comment on those issues today.  I noticed there wasn't a lot of diversion of opinion.  There wasn't a lot of opinions at all on a lot of those issues.  So I take that as there being a large degree of consensus on some of that stuff.

MR. McLORG:  Well, sorry, Harold, but I really -- I am not sure I can quite go with that, because I think that people were assuming that their views already stated in submissions were forming part of the record, and -- I don't think there is any lack of opinion on what the issues are.   think the opinion has been stated.  I don't think that -- anyway, I just needed to say that, because it might sound in transcript like there was some -- a degree of apathy in the room.  I don't think that is true.

MR. THIESSEN:  All right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I agree.

MR. THIESSEN:  So is it an issue of -- we talked about the interrogatory issue earlier.  And we talked about, that Jay wanted to ask specific interrogatories of the applicants, and there was some resistance to that.  


So the situation that Andrew has now suggested is that that interrogatory stage is later, after the principles are set.  Is that how I understand it?  Is that how you understand it, Jay?  And is that acceptable to you, in a sense?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I have raised the question of, where is the factual basis for the issues of principle?  But assuming that that can be resolved and -- you know, I am confident a Board Panel isn't going to make a bunch of decisions of principle without looking at the facts.  So it is only a question of how you get that in.  Assuming that you can find a way to get that in without an interrogatory process, then that's fine.

MR. THIESSEN:  And one suggestion that you have is for Board Staff to do some sort of an analysis that gives you that kind of information.  Is that --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, actually, I don't think you can blame that on me.  I think the hypothetical idea was Colin's.  So it is a lot of work.  It is his idea.


[Laughter]

MR. THIESSEN:  But you're saying that might be acceptable to you as a basis in fact to get some principles out there and then have the utilities re-file their numbers based on those principles, I guess after submissions, I suppose?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Well, and presumably, if you do a Staff paper and it has some hypothetical calculations, you are going to base it on the stuff you have seen in filings.  And if there are gaps in that, then those who need the gaps filled in, whether it is ratepayers or utilities, will file evidence to -- and there should, presumably, be an opportunity for any party to file evidence to support -- in the process, right?  Not just the three named utilities.

MR. THIESSEN:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I don't think that evidence can be in submissions, as Colin suggested.  I think it has to be before submissions, so everybody can look at it and make submissions on it.

But there is no reason why, if the hypotheticals don't do the full job, other people can't file information.

MR. THIESSEN:  All right.  If there are no other comments, I guess we will adjourn for the day.  The Board Panel will be looking at the transcripts and will be taking into account all the submissions on process, et cetera.  And I guess we can expect a procedural order shortly to outline next steps.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do I take it that the remaining days of this technical conference are no longer necessary?

MR. THIESSEN:  Unless you want to come back tomorrow and raise more issues.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  Thank you very much.

MR. THIESSEN:  No?  But, yeah, I didn't really think we would go four days, but I didn't think we would just go one day either, but if that is the consensus of the group, then we've finished with the issues and we are done.

So thank you very much for attending and for your insights.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 2:25 p.m.
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